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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Dato’ Sri Shaharuddin Bin Khalid was appointed to the Board on 8th 

of New Haven, Connecticut, USA. He also holds Bachelor’s degree 
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The details of the Directors’ Attendance at Board Meetings are set out on page 2   
 

  
The details of the Directors’ interest in the securities of the Company are set out on page  of 
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P

material environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) topics across our opera  
 

 
would like to support. This is fine tuning the Group’s alignment to its sustainability approach with the 
adopted United Nations Sustainability Development Goals (“UNSDGs”) which is in accordance to the 
United Nations’ 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development since 2015. 
 

ADOPTED 
UNSDGS 

OUR GOALS  

 Healthy lives and promote well-being for all at all ages.  
 

We a re   to create a    promoting    
our  -

-from-home (“WFH”), provision of test kits, 

action. 
 Ensure inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong 

opportunities for all 
 

-the-
. 

 Achieve gender equality and empower all women and girls. 
 

We practice non-  

 Promote sustained, inclusive and sustainable economic growth, full and 
productive employment and decent work for all 

 
 

 

 Take urgent action to combat climate change and its impact 
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For the safety of the staff, the Company’s premises are fully equipped with CCTVs and firefighting equipment. 
 

 
 

  
 Written communication operating . Strict 

 
 vaccination programme  
  
 of temperature  

 
Education / Quality Training 
 

 
 

-the-
 

 
Employee Welfare, Well-being, Gender Equality and Anti- Discrimination Policies 
 

-
the Company’s st

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE



SMTRACK BERHAD  [Registrat ion No.:20040100918 (639421-X)] ANNUAL REPORT 2023

SUSTAINABILITY: GOVERNANCE 
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INTRODUCTION 
 
The Malaysian Code of Corporate Governance defines corporate governance as “the process and 

-
whilst taking into account the interests of the other stakeholders.” 
 

 
 
Th
in the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance (“MCCG’’

Listing Requirements (“AMLR”) and it is to be read together with the CG Report 2023 of the Company 
which is available on SMTrack’s website at . 
 
 
 
CLEAR ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
Board of Directors 
 
The Board’s pivotal role is to lead and establish the Group’s vision, provision of strategic direction, 

 
-making process so as to ensure the Group’s objectives of 
 

 

-

  
 

-
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Board Role and Responsibilities 

- -Executive -
-

a mem  

anagement. 
 
  
 
  
 Oversees the conduct of the Group’s business and evaluates whether the business is being 

 
 

 
 Reviews the adequacy and the integrity of the Group’s in

 
  and composition to determine the impact on the Board’s effectiveness. 

 
  
 Establishes the Group’s authority limits which outline the materiality of any transaction entered 

 
 Ensures that the Group’s financial statements are true and fair, and comply with all 

laws and governmental regulations applicable to the Group’s business and its conduct. 
 

position descriptions including the limits to Management’

   
 

-
-

. 
 

   
 

 
Board’s responsibilities and in meeting the Group’s current needs and requirements.  
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Role and Responsibilities of the Company Secretary 
 

 
 

  
The Company Secretary plays an advisory role to the Board in relation to the Company’s Constitution, 
the Board’s policies and procedures, and compliance with the relevant regulatory require

 

 
 

periods for trading in the Company’s shares, in accordance with Rule 14 of the AMLR of Bursa Securities. 
erations during the Board and Board Committees’ meetings were properly minute and documented 
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The Nominatin  
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
   
  
 

Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) and make recommendation to the Board for their re-  
  

 
 
Remuneration Committee 
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Executive Directors’ remuneration which is linked to the performance of the Executive 

 
 

Group’s performance. 
 

 
 
 
Audit & Risk Management Committee 
 

Committee (“ARMC”) comprises three (3) Independent Non-Executive 
 

 
The ARMC’s Terms of Reference include the review of and deliberation on the Group’s f
statements, the audit findings of the external auditors arising from their audit of the Group’s financial 
statements and the audit findings and issues raised by internal audit together with the Management’s 

 
 
The Company’s Inte

 
 
Supply of Information 
 

pre-

 
 
In addition, there are matters reserved specifically for the Board’s decision, including the approval of 
corporate 

 
 

whenever appropriate, at the Group’s expense.  
  
 
Directors’ Code of Ethics 
 

Company’s website. 
 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT



SMTRACK BERHAD  [Registrat ion No.:20040100918 (639421-X)] ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Whistle-blowing Policy  
 

-

-
-blowing Policy is reviewed annually and is available on the Company’s website. There were 

  
 
 
 
Gender Diversity  

 

-

a proper understanding of the Group’s business a
. 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
Appointments to the Board and Re-election 
 
In accordance with Clause 97 of the Company’s Constitution, all Directors of the Company shall retire 
from office at the first Annual General meeting (“AGM”) and at the AGM in every subsequent year, one-

-  
 
In accordance with Clause 104 of the Company’s Constitution, all newly appointed Director of the 

 
 

 
 

 
 Dato’ Zaidi Bin Mat Isa @ Hashim and Dato’ Sri Shaharuddin Bin Khalid 

pursuant to Clause 97 of the Company’s Constitution stands for re-
 

 
 

to Clause 104 of the Company’s Constitution stand for re-  
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STRENGTHEN COMPOSITION 
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of the candidates and the candidate’s ability to discharge such responsibilities/functions as are 
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Directors’ Remuneration 
 
 Remuneration procedure 

 

-Executive Directors’ fees are tabled at the 
Company’s AGM. 
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REINFORCE INDEPENDENCE 
 

 
 

(9) years, Board justification and shareholders’ approval are required. Two tier voting proce
 

 

 
 

matter.  
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FOSTER COMMITMENT 
 
Time Commitment  
 

.      
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Directors 
Number of 

Board Meetings 
Attended 

 

Percentage of 
Attendance 

(%) 
Dato’ Sri Shaharuddin Bin Khalid 

-  
 

  

 
 

 

  

Dato’ Zaidi Bin Mat Isa @ Hashim  
 

 

  

Dato’ Saiful Nizam Bin Mohd Yusoff  
 

 
 

  

 
-  

 

  

 
-  

(Non- -  
 

  

 
 

-Executive Direct  
 

  

 
 

-Executive Directo  
 

  

 
 

-  
 

  

 
 

 
(Non- -Executive Director  
 

  

Tan Chee Keang  
 

-  
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Directors’ Continuous Professional Development  
 

 
 

 
 
Name of Directors  Date  Programmes/Seminar 

 
  

 
Dato’ Zaidi Bin Mat Isa @ 

 
- - 

Dato’ Sri Shaharuddin Bin Khalid 
 

- - 

 
 

- - 

Dato’ Saiful Nizam Bin Mohd 
 

- - 

 
 

- - 

 –  ion 
 

  
 

 –  
 

 

 
 

Standard that affect the Group’s financial statements during the year. In addition, the Board is briefed by 
the 

 
 
 
UPHOLD INTEGRITY IN FINANCIAL REPORTING 
 

Group’s performance in the audited financial statements and quarterly financial reports together with 
 

Standards and Listing Requirements. Thus, a balanced and meaningful assessment of the Group’s 

 
 

aim to present a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s position and prospects. This 
rice-  

 
The Group’s quarterly and annual results announcements were within the stipulated time frame, 
reinforcing the Board’s commitment to provide a true and fair view of the Group’s operations.   
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meaningful assessment of the Group’s financial 
 

 
 
 Internal Audit  

 

Group’s System of internal control are adequate and effective. Details of the internal audit 
function and a summary of its activities, together with the state of the Group’s internal control, 

 to  
 

 
 

 External Audit 
 

The Group’s independent external auditors fill an essential role for the shareholders by enhancing 
the reliability of the Group’s financial statements an

 
 

-

 
 
 
RECOGNISE AND MANAGE RISKS  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
ENSURE TIMELY AND HIGH-QUALITY DISCLOSURE  
 

the Company’s website. Price sensitive information refers to any information that, on becoming generally 
 effect on the market price of the Company’s listed shares.   

 

to the provisions relating to the “closed period” for dealing in the Company’s shares. 
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STRENGTHEN RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN COMPANY AND SHAREHOLDERS 
 

 
 

 
them. 
 
The Group’s information is disseminated through various disclosures and announcements made to 

 
 
 
Integrated Reporting 
 

-

future. 
 
Conduct of General Meetings 
 

  
 

-

 
 

  
 

 

the Company’s operations in general or the annual reports of the Company and of the Group. 
 

 
 

shareholders. All the members of the Board and the respective Chairmen of the Board’s 
Commit

 
 

  
 

Company’s website. 
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the 

. 
 

with the Company’s announcements and other information about the Group are available on the 
Company’s website . 
 

them through e-  or pho -
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The Audit & Risk Management Committee (“ARMC”) was established with the objective of assisting the 
Board of Directors (“Board”) in the areas of corpor
reporting.  
 
 
COMPOSITION 
 

of Rule 15.09 and 15.10 of the ACE Market Listing Requirements (“AMLR”) of Bursa Ma
Berhad (“Bursa Securities”).  
 

- - 
 

  
(Senior Independent Non-Executive Director) 
 

  
 

(Independent Non-Executive Director) 
 

 Chua Ser T  
 

(Independent Non-Executive Director) 
 

 Tan Chee Keang  
 

(Independent Non-Executive Director) 
 

 Dato’ Saiful Nizam Bin Mohd Yusoff  
 

(Executive Director) 
 
 
SECRETARY 
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MEETINGS 
 

 
 
 

Directors 
Number of 
Meetings 
attended  

Percentage of 
Attendance 

(%) 
  

-    

  
 

-  
  

  
 

-  
  

 Tan Chee Keang  
 

-  
  

 Dato’ Saiful Nizam Bin Mohd Yusoff  
 

 
  

 

 
 

 
 

which included inter alia, the Auditors’ audit plans and audit reports, the quarterly results of the Company 
. 

 

aware of 

notation. 
 
 
SUMMARY ACTIVITIES  
 

- 
 
Quarterly Financial Statements and Audited Financial Statements 
 
 

 
 
 ore recommending them for Board’s approval, focusing 

- 
  
  
 . 
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External Auditors 
 
 

based on the External Auditors’ presentation of audit plan; 
  
 

 
 

 
  
 

-
 

  
 
 
Internal Auditors 
 

 
 

all the documents relating to the Company and Group’s governance, financial statements and 
 

 
- 

 
 internal audit’s resource requirements, scop  
 

 
  

 
 
 
Internal Control and Risk Management) report 

 
  
  
 

 
 r
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Internal Audit Function 
 

 

 
 

-

 
 

 
-  

 

. 
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INTRODUCTION 
 

risk management and internal control to safeguard shareholders’ investment, the Group’s assets and 
 

 

al Control which outlines the Group’s internal control framework and risk management 

(“Bursa Securities”). This Statement has been prepared pursuant to Rule 
- 

Guideline for Directors of Listed Issuers (the Guidelines”).  
 
 
BOARD RESPONSIBILITY 
 

management and internal control and reviewing its adequacy and effectiveness to ensure shareholders’ 
interest and the Group’s assets are safeguarded. 

eliminate risks that may impede the Group’s achievement of the corporate objectives. Therefore, such a 
 

 
 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK 
 

in the 

-
 

 

ee (“ARMC”) in 
 

 
 
INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM 
 

 
 

 outlines the main elements of the Group’s internal control system: 
 
i. 

. 
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ii. 

meeting.  
 

iii. 
 

 
iv. The Group’s performance is monitored through management meeting attended by Head of 

-on approach. 
 
v. 

-to-  
 
vi. 

 
 
The Group’s internal control systems are continuously being reviewed and enhanced to ensure that 
changes in the Group’s business and operating environment are adequately managed. 
 

 
 
 
INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION 
 

-up 

. 
 

 
REVIEW OF THE STATEMENT BY EXTERNAL AUDITORS 

 

 
 

of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems including the assessment and opinion by 
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CONCLUSION BY THE BOARD 
 

 
 

 
 

  

eguard shareholders’ investments, the 
Group’s assets and interest of other stakeholders.     
 
This statement was made in accordance with a Board of Directors’ Resolution dated . 
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Compa

 

 

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENTS

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

  
 
To minimise the environmental impact, the Group adopts a “Go Green” policy, to complement 
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ADDITIONAL COMPLIANCE INFORMATION

- 

1.0 Statement of Directors’ Responsibility in respect of the Financial Statements 
 
  

p  
p   

  
 

e 

 
 
2.0 Material Contracts Involving Directors and/or Major Shareholders 
 

Company and its subsidiaries involving Director’s and major shareholder’s interest which were still 
 

 
 
3.0 Corporate Responsibility (“CR”) 
 

Group supports important causes such as employees’ welfare, community and environment 

wi  
 
4.0 Utilisation of Proceeds Raised from Corporate Proposals  
 

 
 
5.0 Contracts Relate to a Loan 
 

 
 
6.0 Employees Share Issuance Scheme  
 

es were exercised pursuant to the Company’s Employees’ Share Issuance Scheme. 
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- 
 

   
  

   
   

     
 

- 
 

Management   
Since commencement up to 

 

 
  

   
 
 

7.0 Recurrent Related Party Transactions of Revenue or Trading Nature (“RRPT”) 
 

There was only one (1) RRPT during the financial period ended 30 June 2023 which Dato’ Saiful 
 

 
8.0 Non-Audit Fees 
 

The  non-  
 

 
9.0 Variation in Results 
 

 
 
10.0 Profit Guarantee 
 

 
 
11.0 Profit Forecast Variance 
 

 
 
12.0 Revaluation Policy on Landed Properties  
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The directors submit their report and the audited financial statements of the Group and the Company for 
the financial period 1 January 2022 to 30 June 2023. 
 
 
Change of financial year end 
 
The Company changed its financial year end from 31 December to 30 June. Accordingly, the financial 
statements for the current financial period are drawn up for the period 1 January 2022 to 30 June 2023 
or a period of eighteen months. 
 
 
Principal activities 
 
The Company is principally engaged in the design, deployment and distribution of radio frequency 
identity tags and other tagging solutions using information technology broadband networks and the 
provision of training, maintenance and related consultancy services. The details of the subsidiaries, 
including their principal activities, are disclosed in Note 11 to the financial statements. 
 
 
Financial results 
 Group  Company 
 RM  RM 
Net loss for the financial period (15,938,750)  (9,217,179) 
    
Attributable to:    
Owners of the Company (15,812,783)  (9,217,179) 
Non-controlling interests  (125,967)  - 

 (15,938,750)  (9,217,179) 

 
In the opinion of the directors, the results of the operations of the Group and the Company during the 
financial period have not been substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and 
unusual nature. 
 
 
Dividend 
 
No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company since the end of the previous financial period. 
The directors also do not recommend any dividend payment in respect of the current financial period. 
 
 
Reserves and provisions 
 
There were no material transfers to and from reserves and provisions during the financial period other 
than those disclosed in the financial statements. 
 
 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT



44

SMTRACK BERHAD  [Registrat ion No.:20040100918 (639421-X)] ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Issue of shares and debentures 
 
During the reporting period, the Company issued the following shares by way of: 
 
(i) Conversion of RM20,500,000 redeemable convertible notes to 205,000,000 new ordinary shares 

at an issue price of RM0.10 per share; 
 
(ii) Issuance of 210,828,150 new ordinary shares pursuant to the exercise of SIS options at the 

exercise price ranging from RM0.0272 to RM0.07; and 
 
(iii) Special issue of 211,764,705 new ordinary shares with an issue price of RM0.085 per share. The 

shares were issued for payment for the purchase consideration for the acquisition of 30% equity 
interest in V Ultimate Sdn. Bhd.. The fair value of the share price on the issuance date is 
RM0.055. 

 
The new ordinary shares issued rank pari passu with the then existing ordinary shares of the Company. 
 
The movement of the Company’s share capital account are disclosed in Note 19 to the financial 
statements. 
 
The Company has not issued any debentures during the financial period. 
 
 
Share Issuance Scheme options 
 
The Company implemented an Employees’ Share Issuance Scheme (“SIS”) which is governed by the 
SIS By-Laws approved by its shareholders at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 17 May 
2017. The effective date for the implementation of the SIS is 26 October 2017. 
 
The salient features of the SIS are as follows: 
 
(a) The SIS  is administered by the Option Committee of the Company; 
 
(b) Employees (including directors) of the Company or its subsidiaries shall be eligible to participate 

in the SIS, if as at the date of offer, the employee: 
 

(i) has attained the age of eighteen (18) years; 
(ii) is employed by a company in the Group, which is not dormant; 

 
The allocation criteria of new ordinary shares comprised in the options to eligible employees 
shall be determined at the discretion of the Option Committee. The participation of an Executive 
Director of the Company in the SIS shall be approved by the shareholders of the Company in 
the general meeting; 

 
(c) The total number of new shares to be offered pursuant to the SIS shall not be more than 30% of 

the Company’s issued and paid up share capital of the Company; 
 

(d) The SIS shall be in force for a period of five (5) years with an extension period of another five 
(5) years from the first grant date; 
 

(e) The option price shall be fixed at the higher of the five (5) days weigted average market price of 
the shares of the Company preceeding the date of offer with a discount of not more than 10%; 

 
(f) The number of shares so offered shall not be less than one hundred (100) shares nor more 

than the maximum number of allocations granted by the Option Committee in multiples of one 
hundred (100) shares; and 
 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Directors 
 
The directors of the Company in office since the end of the previous financial period to the date of this 
report are: 
 
Datuk Azmi Bin Osman  
Mahnorizal Bin Mahat  
Dato’ Zaidi Bin Mat Isa @ Hashim   
Dato’ Sri Shaharuddin Bin Khalid   
Dato’ Saiful Nizam Bin Mohd Yusoff   
Tan Chee Keang    Resigned on 30 August 2022 
Datuk Seri Tan Choon Hwa   Re-appointed on 7 January 2022 
Datuk Wira Justin Lim Hwa Tat  Appointed on 7 January 2022; Resigned on 15 August 2023 
Cheah Ben Lee    Appointed on 25 November 2022 
Chua Ser Terk    Appointed on 25 November 2022 
Lam Hwan Chui    Appointed on 27 December 2022 
 
 
Directors' interests 
 
The shareholdings in the Company and its related companies of those who were directors at the end of 
the financial period, as recorded in the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings kept under Section 59 of the 
Companies Act 2016, are as follows: 
 
 Number of ordinary shares 
 Balance as at 

1.1.2022/  
Date of appointment 

 
 

Bought  

 
 

Sold 

 
Balance as at 

30.6.2023 
Shareholdings registered in      
  the name of directors:     
Datuk Azmi Bin Osman - 88,970,707 47,609,700 41,361,007 
Datuk Seri Tan Choon Hwa 10,458,000 25,000,000 15,458,000 20,000,000 
 
 
Directors’ benefits 
 
Since the end of the previous financial period, no director has received or become entitled to receive 
any benefit (other than a benefit included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and 
receivable by the directors as shown in the financial statements or the fixed salary of a full time 
employee of the Company) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with 
the director or with a firm of which the director is a member, or with a company in which the director has 
a substantial financial interest. 
 
The details of the directors’ remuneration are disclosed in Note 6 to the financial statements. There were 
no arrangements during or at the end of the financial period, which had the object of enabling directors 
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other 
body corporate.  
 
 
Directors’ Remuneration 
  Group  Company 
  RM  RM 
     
Directors’ emoluments  277,933  92,600 
Directors’ other emoluments  12,557  - 
Directors’ fee  1,184,000  824,000 
Share option expenses  2,150,685  2,150,685 
  3,625,175  3,067,285 
  

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Indemnity and insurance 
 
There was no indemnity given to or insurance effected for any directors, officers and auditors of the 
Company during the financial period. 
 
 
Other statutory information 
 
Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Company were prepared, the directors took 
reasonable steps: 
 
(a) to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the 

making of allowance for doubtful debts, and had satisfied themselves that no known bad debts 
need to be written off and that adequate allowance has been made for doubtful debts; and 

 
(b) to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to be realised in the ordinary course of 

business including the values of current assets as shown in accounting records of the Group 
and of the Company had been written down to an amount which the current assets might be 
expected so to realise. 

 
At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances: 
 
(a) which would render the amount written off as bad debts or the amount of allowance for doubtful 

debts in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company inadequate to any 
substantial extent; or 

 
(b) which would render the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the 

Group and of the Company misleading; or 
 
(c) which have arisen and render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or 

liabilities of the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate; or 
 

(d) not otherwise dealt with in this report or the financial statements which would render any amount 
stated in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading. 

 
At the date of this report, there does not exist: 
 
(a) any charge on the assets of the Group and of the Company which has arisen since the end of 

the financial year which secures the liabilities of any other person; or 
 
(b) any contingent liability of the Group of the Company which has arisen since the end of the 

financial year. 
 
No contingent or other liability has become enforceable, or is likely to become enforceable within the 
period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which in the opinion of the directors, will or 
may substantially affect the ability of the Group and of the Company to meet their obligations as and 
when they fall due. 
 
In the opinion of the directors, no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen 
in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report which is likely to affect 
substantially the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company for the financial year in 
which this report is made. 
 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Auditors' Remuneration  
 
The auditors’ remuneration paid to or receivable by the auditors of the Group and the Company during 
the financial period is: 
 
  Group  Company 
  RM  RM 
     
CHENGCO PLT  218,250  148,250 
Others Auditors  153,440  90,000 
  371,690  238,250 
 
 
Subsequent events 
 
Details of subsequent events are disclosed in Notes 32 to the financial statements. 
 
 
Auditors 
 
The auditors, Messrs CHENGCO PLT, have indicated their willingness to continue in office. 
 
 
Signed on behalf of the Board 
in accordance with a resolution of the directors, 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DATUK AZMI BIN OSMAN  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DATO’ ZAIDI BIN MAT ISA @ HASHIM  
 
 
Kuala Lumpur 
 
Dated: 20 October 2023 
 
 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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I, DATUK AZMI BIN OSMAN (MIA NO: 37058), being the director primarily responsible for the financial 
management of SMTRACK BERHAD, do solemnly and sincerely declare that to the best of my 
knowledge and belief, the accompanying financial statements are correct, and I make this solemn 
declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory 
Declarations Act 1960. 
 
Subscribed and solemnly declared by 
the above named DATUK AZMI BIN 
OSMAN at Kuala Lumpur in Wilayah 
Persekutuan on 20 October 2023 

) 
) 
) 
) 

 

DATUK AZMI BIN OSMAN 
 
Before me, 
 

   
 
 
 

COMMISSIONER FOR OATHS 
 

STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS

STATUTORY DECLARATION

The directors of SMTRACK BERHAD state that, in the opinion of the directors, the accompanying 
financial statements are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2016 and the 
Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of 
the Group and of the Company as at 30 June 2023, and of their financial performance and their cash 
flows for the period 1 January 2022 to 30 June 2023. 
 
Signed on behalf of the Board 
in accordance with a resolution of the directors, 
 
 
 
 
 
DATUK AZMI BIN OSMAN 
 
 
 
 
 
DATO’ ZAIDI BIN MAT ISA @ HASHIM  
 
 
 
Kuala Lumpur 
 
Dated: 20 October 2023 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF SMTRACK BERHAD (Incorporate in Malaysia)

 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of SMTrack Berhad, which comprise the statements of 
financial position as at 30 June 2023 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of 
the Group and of the Company for the financial period 1 January 2022 to 30 June 2023, and notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, as set out on pages 55 to 
111. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position 
of the Group and of the Company as at 30 June 2023, and of their financial performance and their cash 
flows for the financial period 1 January 2022 to 30 June 2023 in accordance with Malaysian Financial 
Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the 
Companies Act, 2016 in Malaysia. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and 
International Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in 
the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Independence and Other Ethical Responsibilities 
 
We are independent of the Group and of the Company in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional 
Ethics, Conduct and Practice) of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“By-Laws”) and the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the By-Laws and the IESBA Code. 
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Key Audit Matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current year. We have 
determined that there are no key audit matters to communicate in our report in the financial statements 
of the Company. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements of 
the Group and the Company as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. We have determined the matters described below to be the key audit 
matters to be communicated in our report: 
 
Key audit matters  How our audit addressed the key audit matters 

Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment   
  

The Group has significant balances of 
property, plant and equipment 
RM66,203,357.  

There is a risk that the future performance of 
the assets may not lead to their carrying 
values being recoverable in full. 
 

 Our audit procedures focused on the following: 
 

 Discussed with the management on the 
business plan; 

 Assessed the appropriateness of the 
independent professional valuer's scope of work 
and evaluated whether they possess sufficient 
expertise, capability and objectivity to 
competently perform the valuation of the 
Group's significant component of property, plant 
and equipment; 

 Obtained the valuation report and evaluated the 
valuation methodology and estimates used by 
the independent professional valuer; and 

 Conducted site visits on the property, plant and 
equipment to observe the condition of the 
property and safeguards put in place by the 
Group. 

Impairment of Intangible Asset and Goodwill 

The Group has significant balances of 
goodwill of RM9,029,654 and intangible asset 
of RM9,240,000. 

There are risk arising from the potential 
impairment of intangible asset. 

 
 

 Our audit procedures focused on the following: 
 

 Discussed with the management on the 
business plan; 

 Assessed the appropriateness of the 
independent professional valuer's scope of work 
and evaluated whether they possess sufficient 
expertise, capability and objectivity to 
competently perform the valuation of the 
Group's intangible assets; and 

 Obtained the cash flow projection and valuation 
report and evaluated the valuation methodology 
and estimates used by the management and 
independent professional valuer. 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF SMTRACK BERHAD (Incorporate in Malaysia)
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Key Audit Matters (Cont’d) 
 
Key audit matters  How our audit addressed the key audit matters 

Control over a company as subsidiary by 30% equity interest 
  

The Group has acquired V Ultimate Sdn. Bhd 
as a subsidiary by holding 30% equity interest 
of the company.  

There are risk arising from the recognition of 
subsidiary. 

 Our audit procedures focused on the following: 
 
 Discussed with the management on their 

assessment on power, return and the ability to 
use its power over the investee to affect the 
amount of the investor’s returns; and  

 Review the shareholders’ agreement.  
 

 
Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon  
 
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the Annual Report but does not include the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company and our auditors’ report thereon.  
 
Our opinion on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company does not cover the other 
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, our 
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements of the Group and of the Company or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements 
 
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements of the Group 
and of the Company that give a true and fair view in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting 
Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 
2016 in Malaysia. The Directors are also responsible for such internal control as the Directors determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the Company that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, the Directors are responsible for 
assessing the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.  
 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the Group 
and of the Company as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with approved standards on auditing in 
Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements. 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF SMTRACK BERHAD (Incorporate in Malaysia)
(Cont’d)
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Cont’d) 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International 
Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 
 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Group and 

of the Company, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  
 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s and the Company’s internal control. 

 
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors. 
 
 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s or the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group or the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 
 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the Group and 
of the Company, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements of the Group and of 
the Company represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 
 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial statements of the Group. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF SMTRACK BERHAD (Incorporate in Malaysia)
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Cont’d) 
 
We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current year 
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication. 
 
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 2016 in Malaysia, we report that the 
subsidiary of which we have not acted as auditors, is disclosed in Note 11 to the financial statements. 
 
 
Other Matters 
 
This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 266 
of the Companies Act, 2016 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume any responsibility 
to any other person for the content of this report. 
 
The financial statements for the financial period 1 August 2020 to 31 December 2021 were audited by 
another firm of chartered accountants whose report dated 15 April 2022 expressed a true and fair view 
opinion on these statements. 
 
   
   
   
   
   
   
CHENGCO PLT   TAN WAE LENG 
(LLP0017004-LCA & AF0886)          02850/05/2024 J 
Chartered Accountants  Chartered Accountant 
   
KUALA LUMPUR 
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  Group  Company 
    Restated    Restated 
  1.1.2022  1.8.2020  1.1.2022  1.8.2020 
  to  to  to  to 
 Note 30.6.2023  31.12.2021  30.6.2023  31.12.2021 
  RM  RM  RM  RM 
Revenue 4 15,987,743  6,142,810  6,000  1,981,132 

Cost of sales 5 (9,357,091)  (4,122,190)  -  - 

Gross profit  6,630,652  2,020,620  6,000  1,981,132 

Other operating income  112,638  5,198,258  107,154  5,093,972 

Administrative expenses 6 (21,505,206)  (15,268,816)  (9,260,759)  (13,090,290) 

Finance costs  (759,595)  -  (61,674)  - 

Loss before tax 7 (15,521,511)  (8,049,938)  (9,209,279)  (6,015,186) 

Income tax expense 8 (417,239)  (33,404)  (7,900)  (504) 

Net loss/Total 
comprehensive loss for 
the period 

 

(15,938,750)  (8,083,342)  (9,217,179)  (6,015,690) 
         
Net loss/Total 

comprehensive loss for 
the period attributable to: 

        

Owners of the Company   (15,812,783)  (7,789,837)  (9,217,179)  (6,015,690) 
Non-controlling interests   (125,967)  (293,505)  -  - 

  (15,938,750)  (8,083,342)  (9,217,179)  (6,015,690) 
         
Loss per share (sen):         
- Basic 9 (1.71)  (2.11)     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY 2022 TO 30 JUNE 2023
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

 
    Group 
      Restated  Restated 
    30.6.2023  31.12.2021  1.8.2020 
   Note RM  RM  RM 
Non current assets         
Aircraft, plant and equipment   10 66,203,357  39,944,880  57,978 
Investment in subsidiaries   11 -  -  - 
Intangible asset   12 9,240,000  9,240,000  - 
Right of use assets   13 1,091,329  -  - 
Goodwill on consolidation    14 9,029,654  2,776,548  2,776,548 
Investment in an associate   15 -  -  - 
    85,564,340  51,961,428  2,834,526 
         
Current assets         
Trade receivables   16 7,748,968  1,631,877  3,729,093 
Other receivables, deposits and 

prepayments 
 

 
 

17 14,035,945  489,436  3,550,410 
Inventories   18 4,316,504  -  - 
Current tax assets    -  531  531 
Cash and bank balances    384,164  2,157,129  28,250 

    26,485,581  4,278,973  7,308,284 

Total assets    112,049,921  56,240,401  10,142,810 
         
Equity         
Share capital   19 108,354,183  63,889,978  23,655,293 
Reserves   20 (35,349,553)  (20,102,173)  (15,302,650) 
    73,004,630  43,787,805  8,352,643 
Non-controlling interests   11 6,482,715  (172,293)  121,202 

Total equity    79,487,345  43,615,512  8,473,845 
         
Non current liabilities         
Lease liabilities   21 757,346  -  - 
Borrowings   24 8,055,173  -  - 
Deferred tax liabilities   8 346,457  -  - 
    9,158,976  -  - 
         
Current liabilities         
Trade payables   22 3,925,061  -  142,583 
Other payables and accruals   23 6,079,907  12,591,989  1,526,382 
Tax payable    3,869,798  32,900  - 
Borrowings   24 9,119,995  -  - 
Lease liabilities   21 408,839  -  - 
    23,403,600  12,624,889  1,668,965 

Total liabilities    32,562,576  12,624,889  1,668,965 

Total equity and liabilities    112,049,921  56,240,401  10,142,810 
 

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2023
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    Company 
      Restated  Restated 
    30.6.2023  31.12.2021  1.8.2020 
   Note RM  RM  RM 
Non current assets         
Aircraft, plant and equipment   10 51,345,122  39,944,880  52,461 
Investment in subsidiaries   11 15,047,449  3,400,290  3,400,100 
Intangible asset   12 9,240,000  9,240,000  - 
Right of use assets   13 533,191  -  - 
Goodwill on consolidation    14 -  -  - 
Investment in an associate   15 -  -  - 
    76,165,762  52,585,170  3,452,561 
         
Current assets         
Trade receivables   16 -  53,952  3,729,093 
Other receivables, deposits and 

prepayments 
 

 
 

17 6,816,258  3,206,027  2,718,880 
Inventories   18 -  -  - 
Current tax assets    -  531  531 
Cash and bank balances    70,104  2,060,784  25,121 

    6,886,362  5,321,294  6,473,625 

Total assets    83,052,124  57,906,464  9,926,186 
         
Equity         
Share capital   19 108,354,183  63,889,978  23,655,293 
Reserves   20 (26,526,988)  (17,875,212)  (14,849,837) 
    81,827,195  46,014,766  8,805,456 
Non-controlling interests   11 -  -  - 

Total equity    81,827,195  46,014,766  8,805,456 
         
Non current liabilities         
Lease liabilities   21 461,008  -  - 
Borrowings   24 -  -  - 
Deferred tax liabilities    -  -  - 
    461,008  -  - 
         
Current liabilities         
Trade payables   22 2,473  -  142,583 
Other payables and accruals   23 656,251  11,891,698  978,147 
Tax payable    7,838  -  - 
Borrowings   24 -  -  - 
Lease liabilities   21 97,359  -  - 
    763,921  11,891,698  1,120,730 

Total liabilities    1,224,929  11,891,698  1,120,730 

Total equity and liabilities    83,052,124  57,906,464  9,926,186 
 

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2023

(Cont’d)

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Non-

distributable      
 
 

Share capital  

Employee 
share option 

reserve  

Distributable 
Accumulated 

losses  

 
 

Total 
Company RM  RM  RM  RM 
At 1 January 2022        

- as previously reported 63,889,978  2,990,315  (22,196,550)  44,683,743 
- prior year adjustments -  -  1,331,023  1,331,023 
- as restated 63,889,978  2,990,315  (20,865,527)  46,014,766 
        
Transactions with owners        

Issuance of shares 30,786,004  -  -  30,786,004 
Conversion of Share Issuance 

Scheme (“SIS”) options 9,932,869  -  -  9,932,869 
SIS reserves transfer to share 

capital 3,745,332  (3,745,332)  -  - 
Grant of SIS options -  4,310,735  -  4,310,735 
SIS options surrendered  -  (2,990,315)  2,990,315  - 

Total transactions with owners 44,464,205  (2,424,912)  2,990,315  45,029,608 
        
Net loss/Total comprehensive loss 

for the period -  -  (9,217,179)  (9,217,179) 

At 30 June 2023 108,354,183  565,403  (27,092,391)  81,827,195 

        

At 1 August 2020        

- as previously reported 23,655,293  -  (15,325,628)  8,329,665 

- prior year adjustments -  -  475,791  475,791 

- as restated 23,655,293  -  (14,849,837)  8,805,456 
        
Transactions with owners        

Issuance of shares  40,234,685  -  -  40,234,685 

Grant of Share Issuance Scheme 
(“SIS”) options 

 
- 

  
2,990,315 

 
-  

 
2,990,315 

Total transactions with owners 40,234,685  2,990,315  -  43,225,000 
        
Net loss/Total comprehensive loss 

for the period        

- as previously reported -  -  (6,870,922)  (6,870,922) 
- prior year adjustments -  -  855,232  855,232 

- as restated -  -  (6,015,690)  (6,015,690) 

At 31 December 2021 63,889,978  2,990,315  (20,865,527)  46,014,766 
 
 

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY 2022 TO 30 JUNE 2023
(Cont’d)

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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 Group  Company 
   (Restated)    (Restated) 
 1.1.2022  1.8.2020  1.1.2022  1.8.2020 
 to  to  to  to 
 30.6.2023  31.12.2021  30.6.2023  31.12.2021 
 RM  RM  RM  RM 
Cash flows from/(used in) operating 

activities 
       

Loss before tax (15,521,511)  (8,049,938)  (9,209,279)  (6,015,186) 
Adjustments for:        
Allowance of expected credit losses 10,911,425  664,828  2,000,000  225,673 
Allowance of impairment loss on goodwill 2,776,548  -  -  - 
Bad debts -  1,156,487  -  - 
Depreciation 300,730  31,292  53,443  23,965 
Amortisation 563,715  -  128,702  - 
Bargain purchase on consolidation (5,484)  -  -  - 
Interest expenses 759,595  -  61,674  - 
Reversal of allowance of expected credit 

losses 
 

(68,000) 
  

- 
  

(68,000) 
  

- 
Plant and equipment written off -  7,027,056  -  34,376 
Share option expense 4,310,735  2,990,315  4,310,735  2,990,315 
Operating profit/(loss) before working 

capital changes 4,027,753  3,820,040  (2,722,725)  (2,740,857) 
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories 63,589  -  -  - 
Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other 

receivables (19,555,378)  3,312,231  (3,508,588)  3,199,695 
Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other 

payables (11,384,939)  3,979,045  (10,316,256)  9,604,583 
Cash (used in)/generated from 

operations (26,848,975)  11,111,316  (16,547,569)  10,063,421 
Tax refund 100,907  -  469  - 
Income tax paid -  (504)  -  (504) 

Net cash (used in)/from operating 
activities (26,748,068)  11,110,812  (16,547,100)  10,062,917 

        
Cash flows from/(used in) investing 

activities 
       

Repayments from/(Advances to) 
subsidiaries -  -  (2,408,409)  929,011 

Acquisition of goodwill (288,615)  -  -  - 
Subscription of shares in a subsidiary -  -  (500,100)  (190) 
Net cash outflow in acquisition of 

subsidiary 263,236  -  -  - 
Purchases of aircraft, plant and 

equipment (11,455,084)  (39,976,628)  (11,453,685)  (39,950,760) 
Intangible asset capitalised -  (9,240,000)  -  (9,240,000) 
Net cash used in investing activities (11,480,463)  (49,216,628)  (14,362,194)  (48,261,939) 
 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY 2022 TO 30 JUNE 2023

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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 Group  Company 
   (Restated)    (Restated) 
 1.1.2022  1.8.2020  1.1.2022  1.8.2020 
 to  to  to  to 
 30.6.2023  31.12.2021  30.6.2023  31.12.2021 
 RM  RM  RM  RM 
Cash flows from/(used in) financing 

activities 
       

Proceeds from issuance of shares - net 29,071,814  40,234,685  -  14,770,184 
Proceeds from issuance of redeemable 

convertible notes - net -  -  19,138,945  25,464,501 
Proceeds from exercise of shares 

issuance scheme -  -  9,932,869  - 
Advances from directors 2,074,691  -  12,000  - 
Net increase from borrowing 6,220,343  -  -  - 
Repayment of lease liabilities (595,932)  -  (103,526)  - 
Interest paid (759,595)  -  (61,674)  - 
Subscription of shares in non-

controlling interests in a subsidiary  -  10  -  - 

Net cash from financing activities 36,011,321  40,234,695  28,918,614  40,234,685 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and 
cash equivalents (2,217,210)  2,128,879  (1,990,680)  2,035,663 

Cash and cash equivalents at 
beginning of period 2,157,129  28,250  2,060,784  25,121 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of 
period (60,081)  2,157,129  70,104  2,060,784 

        
Cash and cash equivalents are 

represented by :  
       

Cash at bank 384,164  2,157,129  70,104  2,060,784 
Bank overdraft (444,245)  -  -  - 
 (60,081)  2,157,129  70,104  2,060,784 

 
 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY 2022 TO 30 JUNE 2023
(Cont’d)

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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1. General information 
 

The Company is principally engaged in the design, deployment and distribution of radio frequency 
identity tags and other tagging solutions using information technology broadband networks and 
the provision of training, maintenance and related consultancy services. The details of the 
subsidiaries, including their principal activities, are disclosed in Note 11 to the financial 
statements. 

 
The Company changed its financial year end from 31 December to 30 June. Accordingly, the 
financial statements for the current financial period are drawn up for the period 1 January 2022 to 
30 June 2023 or a period of eighteen months. 

 
The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia, and is 
listed on the ACE Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. 

 
The Company’s registered office is located at Level 2, Tower 1, Avenue 5, Bangsar South City, 
59200 Kuala Lumpur, Wilayah Persekutuan, Malaysia. 
 
The principal place of business is located at Unit 29-7, 7th Floor, The Bouvelard Mid Valley City, 
59200 Kuala Lumpur. 
 
The financial statements of the Group and the Company were approved and authorised for issue 
by the board of directors on 20 October 2023. 

2. Principal accounting policies 
 
2.1 Statement of compliance 
 
 The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared and presented in 

accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2016 and the Malaysian Financial Reporting 
Standards. 

 
The financial statements also comply with the International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 
 

2.2 Basis of preparation of the financial statements 
 
2.2.1 Basis of accounting 

 
The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention and any other bases described in the significant accounting policies as 
summarised below. 
 
The Group has adopted the new and revised Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”) 
and their related IC Interpretations that become mandatory for the current reporting period. The 
adoption of these new and revised MFRSs and IC Interpretations does not result in significant 
changes in accounting policies of the Group. 
 
The Group has not adopted the new standards, amendments to published standards and IC 
Interpretations that have been issued but not yet effective. These new standards, amendments to 
published standards and IC Interpretations do not result in significant changes in accounting 
policies of the Group upon their initial applications. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 JUNE 2023
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2.2.2 Significant accounting policies 
 

Functional and presentation currency 
 

The individual financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional currency”). The 
consolidated financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”), which is also the 
Company’s functional currency. 
 

 Basis of consolidation 
 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries as at the reporting date. The financial statements of the subsidiaries used in the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same reporting date as 
the Company. Consistent accounting policies are applied to like transactions and events in similar 
circumstances. 
 
All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from 
intra-group transactions are eliminated in full. 
 
Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. Identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their 
fair values at the acquisition date. Acquisition related costs are recognised as expenses in the 
periods in which the costs are incurred and the services are received. 

 
For each business combination, non controlling interests that are present ownership interests and 
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation are 
measured either at fair value or at the present ownership instruments’ proportionate share of the 
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non 
controlling interests shall be measured at their acquisition-date fair values, unless another 
measurement basis is required by MFRSs. 

 
Any excess of the sum of their fair value of the consideration transferred in the business 
combination, the amount of non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any), over the net fair value 
of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill in the statement of 
financial position. In instances where the latter amount exceeds the former, the excess is 
recognised as a gain on bargain purchase in profit or loss on the acquisition date. 
 
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group 
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. 
 
Non-controlling interest represents the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, 
to owners of the Company, and is presented within equity in the consolidated statement of 
financial position, separately from equity attributable to owners of the Company. Non-controlling 
interests in the results of the Group is presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income as an allocation of the profit or loss and the comprehensive income for the reporting 
period between non-controlling interests and the owners of the Company. Losses applicable to the 
non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are allocated to the non-controlling interests even if doing 
so causes the non-controlling interests to have a deficit balance. 

 
Changes in the Company owners’ ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of 
control are accounted for as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying amounts of 
the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative 
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling 
interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in 
equity and attributable to owners of the parent. 
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2.2.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
 Basis of consolidation (continued) 
 

Upon the loss of control of a subsidiary, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the 
subsidiary, any non controlling interests and the other components of equity related to the 
subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is recognised in profit or loss. If the 
Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value 
at the date that control is loss. Subsequently, it is accounted for as equity accounted investee or 
as a financial asset depending on the level of influence retained.  
 

 Revenue from contract with customers 
 

Revenue is recognised when or as a performance obligation in the contract with customer is 
satisfied, i.e. when the control of the goods or services underlying the particular performance 
obligation is transferred to the customer. A performance obligation is a promise to transfer a 
distinct goods or service (or a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same 
and that have the same pattern of transfer) to the customer that is explicitly stated in the contract 
and implied in the Group’s customary business practices. 

 
Revenue is measured at the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in 
exchange for transferring the promised goods or services to the customers, excluding amounts 
collected on behalf of third parties such as sales taxes or goods and services taxes. If the amount 
of consideration varies due to discounts, rebates, refunds, credits, incentives, penalties or other 
similar items, the Group estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be entitled based on 
the expected value or the most likely outcome. If the contract with customer contains more than 
one performance obligation, the amount of consideration is allocated to each performance 
obligation based on the relative stand-alone selling prices of the goods or services promised in the 
contract. 
 
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the 
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the 
variable consideration is subsequently resolved. 
 
Revenue is recognised only when it is probable that the Group will collect the considerations to 
which it will be entitled to in exchange for the goods or services sold. 

 
The control of the promised goods or services may be transferred over time or at a point in time. 
The control over the goods or services is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over 
time if: 
 
a) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s 

performance as the Group performs; 
 
b) the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the 

asset is created or enhanced; or 
 
c) the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use and the Group 

has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date. 
 

Revenue for performance obligation that is not satisfied over time is recognised at the point in time 
at which the customer obtains control of the promised goods or services. 
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2.2.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

Employee benefits 
 
(i) Short term benefits 
 

Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as an expense in 
the reporting period in which the associated services are rendered by employees. Short 
term accumulating compensated absences such as paid annual leave are recognised when 
services are rendered by employees that increase their entitlement to future compensated 
absences such as sick leave are recognised when the absences occur. 

 
(ii) Defined contribution plans 

 
Obligations for contribution to defined contribution plans such as Employees Provident Fund 
are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as incurred. 
 

(iii) Employee share option plans 
 

Employees of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share options as consideration 
for services rendered. The cost of these equity-settled transactions with the employees is 
measured by reference to the fair value of the options at the date on which the options are 
granted. This cost is recognised in profit or loss, with a corresponding increase in the share 
option reserve over the vesting period. The cumulative expense recognised at each 
reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has 
expired and the Group’s best estimates of the number of options that will ultimately vest. 
The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative 
expense recognised at the beginning and end of the reporting period. 
 
No expense is recognised for options that do not ultimately vest, except for options where 
vesting is conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as vested 
irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that 
all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.  
 
In the Company’s separate financial statements, the grant of the share options to the 
subsidiaries’ employees is not recognised as an expense. Instead, the fair value of the 
share options measured at the grant date is accounted for as an increase to the investment 
in subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding credit to the share option reserve.  

 
The share option reserve is transferred to share capital when the share options are 
exercised, or transferred to accumulated losses upon expiry of the share options.  

 
Income tax 
 
Income tax on the profit or loss for the reporting period comprises current and deferred tax. 
Current tax is the expected amount of income taxes payable in respect of the taxable profit for the 
reporting period and is measured using the tax rates that have been enacted at the reporting date. 
 
Deferred tax is provided for, using the ‘liability’ method, on temporary differences at the reporting 
date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial 
statements. In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences 
and deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses 
and unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be 
utilised. 
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2.2.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

Income tax (continued) 
 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the reporting period when 
the asset is realised or the liability settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except 
to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income, 
in which case it is recognised in equity or other comprehensive income respectively. 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same 
taxable entity. 
 
Impairment of assets 
 
The carrying amount of assets (other than financial assets) subject to accounting for impairment 
is reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If 
any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is 
recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or the cash-generating unit to which it 
belongs exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss in the 
reporting period in which it arises. 

 
The recoverable amount is the greater of the asset’s fair value less cost of disposal and its value 
in use. In assessing value in use, estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent 
cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the 
asset belongs. 

 
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, an 
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. The reversal is 
recognised in profit or loss. 
 

 Aircraft, plant and equipment and depreciation 
 
Aircraft, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses, if any. 
 
The cost of aircraft, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any incidental costs 
directly attributable to bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use. The cost of 
spare engines acquired on an exchange basis are stated at amount paid and the fair value of the 
item traded-in. Heavy maintenance expenditure for aircraft and engine overhauls are capitalised at 
cost. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in 
which they are incurred. 
 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, 
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will 
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the 
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss 
during the reporting period in which they are incurred. 
 
Gain or loss arising from the disposal of an asset is determined as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.2.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
 Aircraft, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued) 
 

No depreciation is provided on work in progress. Depreciation on other plant and equipment is 
calculated to write off the cost of the assets to its residual value on a straight line basis at the 
following annual rates based on their estimated useful lives: 
 
Computer 33% 
IT equipment 10%-20% 
Office equipment and furniture and fittings 10% 
Renovation 10% 
Motor vehicles 20% 
Leasehold land and buildings 67 years 
 
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed at each reporting date to 
ensure that the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates 
and the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of 
aircraft, plant and equipment. 
 
Intangible asset  
 
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any 
accumulated impairment loss. 
 
The useful life of intangible assets is assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets 
with finite life are amortised on straight-line basis over their estimated economic useful life and 
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be 
impaired. The amortization period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite 
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial period end. Changes in the expected useful life 
or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset is 
accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as 
changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite useful 
life is recognised in the profit or loss in the expense category consistent with the function of the 
intangible asset. 
 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful life are tested for impairment annually or more frequently if 
the events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired either 
individually or at cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful 
life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the 
useful life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite 
to finite is made on a prospective basis. 
 
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the differences 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in 
the profit or loss when the asset is derecognised. 
 
Investment in subsidiaries 
 
Subsidiaries are those companies controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company 
has power over its investee, exposed or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the 
investee, and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. 

 
 The Comp subsidiaries is stated at cost less impairment losses, if any. 
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2.2.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Investment in associates 
 
An associate is a company in which the Group has significant influence and which is neither a 
subsidiary nor a joint venture.  
 
The Group’s investment in associates is accounted for under the equity method of accounting 
based on the audited or management financial statements of the associates made up to the 
reporting date. Under this method of accounting, the investment in an associate is measured in 
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost plus the Group’s post acquisition share of 
the associate’s profit or loss and other comprehensive income while dividend received is reflected 
as a reduction of the investment. 
 
Goodwill relating to an associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess 
of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities over 
the cost of the investment is included as income in the determination of the Group’s share of the 
associates’ profit or loss in the reporting period in which the investment is acquired. 
 
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the 
extent of the Group’s interest in the associates; unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the 
transaction provides evidence on impairment of the asset transferred. Where necessary, in 
applying the equity method, adjustments have been made to the financial statements of the 
associates to ensure consistency of accounting policies with the Group.  
 
When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate, any retained interest in 
the former associate at the date when significant influence is lost is measured at fair value and 
this amount is regarded as the initial carrying amount of a financial asset. The difference between 
the fair value of any retained interest plus proceeds from the interest disposed of and the carrying 
amount of the investment at the date when equity method is discontinued is recognised in profit or 
loss. 

 
Goodwill 
 
Goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses and is tested for 
impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it 
might be impaired. 

 
Leases 
 
Lease payments under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight line basis 
over the terms of the relevant lease. 
 
Segment information 
 
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which 
it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to 
transactions with any of the Group’s other components. An operating segment’s operating results 
are reviewed regularly by the chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources 
to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial 
information is available. 
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2.2.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
Financial instruments 
 
Financial instruments are recognised in the statement of financial position when the Group has 
become a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
A financial instrument (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) is 
recognised initially at its fair value plus or minus, in the case of a financial instrument not at fair 
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or 
issue of the financial instrument. A trade receivable without significant financing component is 
initially measured at the transaction price. 
 
Financial instruments are classified as liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the 
contractual arrangement. Interests, dividends and gains and losses relating to a financial 
instrument classified as a liability, are reported as expense or income in profit or loss. 
 
Distributions to holders of financial instruments classified as equity are charged directly to equity. 
Financial instruments are offset when the Group has legal enforceable right to offset and intends 
to settle either on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
On initial recognition, financial assets are classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost, 
fair value through other comprehensive income and fair value through profit or loss. Financial 
liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities subsequently measured at fair 
value through profit or loss or at amortised cost, as appropriate. 
 
(i) Financial assets at amortised cost 
 

A financial asset is classified at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions: 
 
a) the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial 

assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and 
 
b) the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows 

that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at amortised cost are measured using the 
effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains or losses are recognised in 
profit or loss when the financial assets at amortised cost are derecognised or impaired, and 
through the amortisation process (finance income). 
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2.2.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
Financial instruments (continued) 
 
(ii) Financial liabilities at amortised cost 

 
Financial liabilities are classified at amortised cost if they are not: 

 
a) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination; 
b) financial guarantee contracts; 
c) loan commitments; 
d) designated at fair value through profit or loss; or 
e) liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset that does not qualify for 

derecognition or when the continuing involvement approach applies. 
 

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at amortised cost are measured using 
the effective interest method. Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the 
financial liabilities at amortised cost are derecognised, and through the amortisation process 
(finance cost). 

 
(iii) Equity instruments 

 
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the fair value of the proceeds 
received net of direct issue costs. Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Dividends on 
ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the reporting period in which they are approved. 

 
A financial asset or part of it is derecognised when, and only when the contractual rights to the 
cash flows from the financial asset expire or the financial asset is transferred to another party 
without retaining control or substantially all risks and rewards of the asset. On derecognition of a 
financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration 
received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and any cumulative 
gain or loss that had been recognised in equity is recognised in profit or loss. 

 
A financial liability or a part of it is derecognised when, and only when, the obligation specified in 
the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires. On derecognition of a financial liability, the 
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to 
another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities 
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss. 

 
Expected credit losses 
 
The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on financial assets at 
amortised cost. 

 
ECL are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the 
contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original 
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral 
held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms. ECL are recognised 
in profit or loss. 
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2.2.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
Expected credit losses (continued) 
 
ECL are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECL are provided for credit losses that result from 
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit 
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a 
loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, 
irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL). 
 
For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL. The Group 
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime 
ECL at each reporting date. Where appropriate, the Group has established a provision matrix that 
is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward looking factors specific to the 
debtors and the economic environment. 

 
Loss allowances for debt instruments measured at amortised cost is deducted from the gross 
carrying amount of the assets.  

 
Low credit risk 

 
A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if: 

  
a) the financial instrument has a low risk of default; 
b) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near 

term; and 
c) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not 

necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. 
 
The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when it has an internal or external 
credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally understood definition. 

 
Significant increase in credit risk 

 
When determining whether the credit risk of a debt instrument has increased significantly since 
initial recognition and when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable and supportable 
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both 
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience 
and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information.  

 
The Group considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when contractual 
payments are more than 30 days past due. 

 
Definition of default 

 
The Group considers a debt instrument to be in default when:  

 
a) The Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking 

into account any credit enhancements held by the Group; or 
b) The financial asset is more than 90 days past due. 
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2.2.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
Expected credit losses (continued) 

 
Credit impaired financial assets 

 
A financial asset is credit impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is 
credit impaired includes the following observable events: 

 
a) Significant financial difficulties of the debtor; 
b) A breach of contract, such as a default or past due event; 
c) The lender of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s 

financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession that the lender would not 
otherwise consider; 

d) It becoming probable that the borrower will enter into bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisations; or 

e) Disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties. 
 

Write off 
 

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the 
contractual cash flows. Subsequent recoveries of a financial asset that was previously written off 
are recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery 
occurs. 

 
Current versus non-current classification 

 
Assets and liabilities are presented based on a current/non-current classification. An asset is 
current when it is: 
 
a) Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle; 

 
b) Held primarily for the purpose of trading; 

 
c) Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period; or 

 
d) Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability 

for at least twelve months after the reporting period. 
 

All other assets are classified as non-current. 
 

A liability is current when: 
 
a) It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle; 
 
b) It is held primarily for the purpose of trading; 

 
c) It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or 

 
d) There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve 
 months after the reporting period. 

 
All other liabilities are classified as non-current. 
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2.2.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
Statements of cash flows 
 
Statements of cash flows are prepared using the indirect method. 
 
Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known 
amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 
Inventories 
 
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value (which is the estimated 
selling price less costs to complete and sell). Cost comprises purchase price and directly 
attributable costs of bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Cost of 
inventories is accounted by first in first out method. 

 
 
3. Critical accounting estimates and judgments 

 
In the preparation of the financial statements, the directors are required to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated by the directors and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described above, 
management is of the opinion that there are no instances of application of judgement which are 
expected to have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 
 
Management believes that there are no key assumptions made concerning the future, and other 
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing 
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next reporting 
period other than as follows: 

 
(a) Measurement of ECL allowance  

 
The ECL for receivables are estimated based on assumptions about risk of default and 
expected loss of the probability of non-payment. The assumptions used in estimating future 
cash flows are determined using historical data and forward-looking information. The Group 
uses judgement in making these assumptions.  

(b) Impairment of goodwill and investment in subsidiaires  
 
The Group and the Company assesses impairment of goodwill annually and investment in 
subsidiaries when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of 
these assets may not be recoverable. In assessing such impairment, the recoverable 
amount of the assets is estimated using the latest available fair value (after taking into 
account the costs to sell) or the value in use of the assets. 
 
Significant variations to these assumptions and estimates could result in changes to the 
assessment of the recoverability of these non financial assets. To the extent of any future 
determination that these non financial assets are not recoverable, future financial results in 
the reporting period in which this determination is made will be affected. 
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3. Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued) 

 
(c) Recognition of investment in subsidiaries 

 
The Group has recognised the investment in V-Ultimate Sdn Bhd as investment in 
subsidiary although only hold 30% of equity in V-Ultimate Sdn Bhd. The management views 
that the the majority of board of directors are representing SMTrack Berhad and the 
directors able to control and has unlimited access over the Company’s documents. The 
SMTrack interest is protected by the shareholders’ agreement between SMTrack Berhad 
and seller. 
 
 

4. Revenue 
 
4.1 Disaggregation of revenue 
 

Set out below is the disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers: 
 

 Group  Company 
 1.1.2022  1.8.2020  1.1.2022  1.8.2020 
 to  to  to  to 
 30.6.2023  31.12.2021  30.6.2023  31.12.2021 
 RM  RM  RM  RM 
Type of goods or services        
RFID technical support and 

maintenance services -  1,981,132  -  1,981,132 
Air freight and aviation related 

services 468,476  57,753  -  - 
Trading of equipment 5,201,500  4,103,925  -  - 
Trading of beauty products, 

beauty consultancy and 
reflexology services 6,074,644  -  -  - 

Other consultancy services 1,742,446  -  -  - 
Restaurant and retail sales 2,494,677  -  -  - 
Others 6,000  -  6,000  - 

 15,987,743  6,142,810  6,000  1,981,132 

 
 Group  Company 
 1.1.2022  1.8.2020  1.1.2022  1.8.2020 
 to  to  to  to 
 30.6.2023  31.12.2021  30.6.2023  31.12.2021 
 RM  RM  RM  RM 
Timing of revenue recognition        

At a point in time 15,987,743  4,161,678  6,000  - 
Over time -  1,981,132  -  1,981,132 

 15,987,743  6,142,810  6,000  1,981,132 
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5. Cost of sales 
 

   Group 
     1.1.2022  1.8.2020 
     to  to 
     30.6.2023  31.12.2021 
     RM  RM 
Air freight and aviation related services     366,174  213,690 
Trading of equipment     5,000,000  3,908,500 
Trading of beauty products, beauty consultancy and 

reflexology services     188,092  - 
Other consultancy services     1,661,905  - 
Restaurant and retail sales     2,140,920  - 
Total     9,357,091  4,122,190 

 
Amount of inventories recognised as an expense     5,188,092  3,908,500 

 
6. Staff costs 
 

 Group  Company 
 1.1.2022  1.8.2020  1.1.2022  1.8.2020 
 to  to  to  to 
 30.6.2023  31.12.2021  30.6.2023  31.12.2021 
 RM  RM  RM  RM 
Directors’ fees        
- Company 824,000  439,204  824,000  439,204 
- subsidiaries 360,000  323,288  -  - 
Directors’ remuneration other 
than fees 290,490  -  92,600  - 

Salaries, wages, bonus and 
allowances 

 
2,438,912 

  
602,493 

  
803,008 

  
399,338 

Defined contribution plan 292,874  75,468  94,323  47,426 
Share option expense 4,310,735  2,990,315  4,310,735  2,990,315 
Other employee related expenses 34,912  17,613  10,770  13,645 

 8,551,923  4,448,381  6,135,436  3,889,928 
.  

The key management personnel of the Group and Company whose remuneration is analysed as 
follows: 
 

 Group  Company 
 1.1.2022  1.8.2020  1.1.2022  1.8.2020 
 to  to  to  to 
 30.6.2023  31.12.2021  30.6.2023  31.12.2021 
 RM  RM  RM  RM 
Executive directors:        
- Fees 948,000  595,288  588,000  272,000 
- Salaries 155,333  -  -  - 
- Allowances 110,600  -  92,600  - 
- Bonus 12,000  -  -  - 
- Other employees related  

expenses 
 

12,557 
  

- 
  

- 
  

- 
- Share option expenses 2,150,685  1,235,316  2,150,685  1,235,316 
        
Non executive directors:        
- Fees 236,000  167,204  236,000  167,204 

Total 3,625,175  1,997,808  3,067,285  1,674,520 
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7. Loss before tax 
 Group  Company 
   (Restated)    (Restated) 
 1.1.2022  1.8.2020  1.1.2022  1.8.2020 
 to  to  to  to 
 30.6.2023  31.12.2021  30.6.2023  31.12.2021 
 RM  RM  RM  RM 
Loss before tax is arrived at after 

charging/(crediting): 
       

Auditors’ remuneration        
- current year        

-  statutory 326,440  100,000  193,000  85,000 
-  Non-statutory 45,250  -  45,250  - 

- overprovision in prior years -  (14,787)  -  (14,787) 
Expenses relating to short term 

leases on premises 30,600  30,600  -  - 
Expenses relating to leases of low 

value assets on equipment 14,428  14,428  17,541  4,677 
Plant and equipment written off  2,890  58,434  -  34,376 
Impairment of goodwill 2,776,548  -  -  - 
Bargain purchase on consolidation (5,484)  -  -  - 

 
 
8. Income tax expense 

 Group  Company 
   (Restated)    (Restated) 
 1.1.2022  1.8.2020  1.1.2022  1.8.2020 
 to  to  to  to 
 30.6.2023  31.12.2021  30.6.2023  31.12.2021 
 RM  RM  RM  RM 
Expected income tax payable        
- current period 417,239  32,900  7,900  - 
- under provision in prior years -  504  -  504 

 417,239  33,404  7,900  504 
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8. Income tax expense (continued) 

 
A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to loss before tax at the statutory income tax rate to 
income tax expense at the effective income tax rate is as follows: 

 
 Group Company 

   (Restated)    (Restated) 
 1.1.2022  1.8.2020  1.1.2022  1.8.2020 
 to  to  to  to 
 30.6.2023  31.12.2021  30.6.2023  31.12.2021 

 RM  RM  RM  RM 
Loss before tax (15,521,511)  (8,049,938)  (9,209,279)  (6,015,186) 
        
Taxation at statutory tax        

rate of 24% (2021: 24%) (3,706,421)  (1,931,947)  (2,210,227)  (1,443,645) 
Expenses not deductible for tax 

purposes 3,918,576  1,742,756  2,193,669  1,554.500 
Deferred tax assets not recognised 195,000  1,312,654  43,650  979,708 
Income not subject to tax (16,320)  (1,090,563)  (16,320)  (1,090,563) 
Utilisation of previously 

unrecognised deferred tax assets 29,276  -  -  - 
Under provision in prior years (2,872)  504  (2,872)  504 

Income tax expense for the period 417,239  33,404  7,900  504 
 

Deffered tax liabilities are arised in respect of : 
 

      1.1.2022 
      to 
      30.6.2023 

       RM 
At beginning of financial period       - 
Arising from business combination       346,457 
At end of financial period       346,457 
        

The deferred tax liabilities are in respect of :        
Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use-assets       346,457 
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9. Loss per share 
 
9.1 Basic loss per share 

 
Basic loss per ordinary share is calculated based on the net loss attributable to owners of the Company 
and weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue as follows: 
 

   Group 
     (Restated) 
   1.1.2022  1.8.2020 
   to  to 
   30.6.2023  31.12.2021 
   RM  RM 
Net loss attributable to owners of the Company   (15,812,783)  (7,789,837) 

 
 Group 
   (Restated) 
 1.1.2022  1.8.2020 
 to  to 
 30.6.2023  31.12.2021 
 RM  RM 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 926,765,129  369,941,157 
    
Basic loss per share (sen) (1.71)  (2.11) 

 
Comparative figures for the weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share 
have been restated to amend the error in calculation. 

 
9.2 Diluted loss per share 

 
Diluted loss per share is not presented in the financial statement as there is an anti dilutive effect on 
loss per share. 
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10. Aircraft, plant and equipment (continued) 
 

The leasehold land and buildings of the Group, is pledged to the licensed bank for facility granted 
to the Group amounting to RM2,679,852.  

 
 
11. Investment in subsidiaries 
  

 Company 
 30.6.2023  31.12.2021  31.7.2020 
 RM  RM  RM 
Unquoted shares at cost       
At beginning of period/year 3,400,290  3,400,100  100 
Additions  11,647,159  190  3,400,000 

At end of period/year 15,047,449  3,400,290  3,400,100 

 
 The details of the subsidiaries are as follows: 

Subsidiaries of the  Country of 
 

Group’s effective interest 
 

Company incorporation 30.6.2023 31.12.2021 31.7.2020 Principal activities 
      
Asia Cargo Wings Sdn 

Bhd  
Malaysia 60% 60% 60% Commercial air transport 

operators 

Smart Marine Tech Sdn 
Bhd 

Malaysia 100% 100% 100% Research and development 
on information 
communication technology 
(“ICT”) and supply of ICT 
equipment 

SMT Turbojet Resources 
Sdn Bhd 

Malaysia 100% 100% - Dormant 

SMT Drones Tech Sdn 
Bhd 

Malaysia 90% 90% - Dormant 

SMT Food & Beverages 
Sdn Bhd 

Malaysia 100% - - Investment holding 

AHA Food & Beverages 
Sdn Bhd 

Malaysia 99.99% - - Restaurant business and 
retail sales of other products

V Ultimate Sdn Bhd # Malaysia 30% - - Investment holding 

Held through V Ultimate Sdn Bhd     
Beauty Century Face & 

Body Design Sdn Bhd # 
Malaysia 30% - - Beauty consultancy services,

operating hairdressing and 
other beauty treatments 
centre 

Beauty Century World 
Sdn Bhd # 

Malaysia 30% - - Marketing and distribution of 
beauty care and slimming 
products 

H2G Expert Sdn Bhd # Malaysia 30% - - Trading of beauty products 
Kiseki Marketing Sdn 

Bhd # 
Malaysia 30% - - Trading of beauty and 

slimming products 
AVA Skin Sdn Bhd # Malaysia 30% - - Management and consultanc

services of cosmetic and 
personal care centre 

My Thai Wellness Sdn 
Bhd # 

Malaysia 30% - - Reflexology centres, 
marketing and supplying 
beauty and wellness 
products 

 



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 JUNE 2023

(Cont’d)

SMTRACK BERHAD  [Registrat ion No.:20040100918 (639421-X)]ANNUAL REPORT 2023

85

11. Investment in subsidiaries (continued) 
 

Subsidiaries of the  Country of 
 

Group’s effective interest 
 

Company incorporation 30.6.2023 31.12.2021 31.7.2020 Principal activities 
      
Held through V Ultimate Sdn Bhd and AVA Skin Sdn Bhd  
AVA Skin Gold Sdn 

Bhd # 
Malaysia 30% - - Providing management and

consultancy services of 
cosmetic and personal 
care centre 

 
Not audited by Chengco PLT 

 
 Incorporation and acquisition of subsidiaries 

 
 In the current reporting period: 
 

(a) On 7 July 2022, the Company incorporated a wholly-owned subsidiary, SMT Food & 
Beverages Sdn Bhd (“SMTFB”), by subscribing to 100 ordinary shares representing 100% 
of the issued and paid-up share capital of SMTFB for a cash consideration of RM100.  

 
(b) On 31 October 2022, SMTFB gained control of AHA Food & Bevarge Sdn Bhd (“AHA”) by 

acquisition of 500,000 units of shares representing 99.99% of the issued and paid-up 
capital of AHA for a cash consideration of RM500,000. The Company, as immediate and 
ultimate holding company of SMTFB, has indirectly gained fully control of AHA on 31 
October 2022 as well.  

 
The assets acquired and liabilities recognised as at the date of acquisition were as follows: 
 

Fair value of identified assets and liabilities   
  Fair value   AHA’s 
  recognised   carrying 

  on acquisition  amount 
     
Property, Plant and Equipment  224,422  224,422 
Net current assets  281,113  281,113 
Net identified assets acquired  505,535  505,535 
     
Net cash outflow arising from acquisition of subsidiary     
Purchase consideration settled in cash  500,000   
Cash and cash equivalents acquired   (1,000)   
  499,000   
     
Goodwill     
Fair value of consideration transferred  500,000   
Fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed 

 (505,535)   

Non controlling interests, based on their proportionate 
interest in the recognised amounts of the assets and 
liabilities of the acquiree 

  
51 

  

Bargain purchase on acquisition  (5,484)   
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11. Investment in subsidiaries (continued) 
 

Incorporation and acquisition of subsidiaries (continued) 
 

(c) On 28.12.2022, the Company has complete acquired V Ultimate Sdn Bhd (“VU”) by share 
issuances of 211,764,705 units of shares at RM0.055 per unit, which equivalent to total 
purchase consideration of RM11,647,059, for 2,024,291 units of shares which representing 
30% of the issued and paid-up share capital of VU. The transfers of shares has been 
completed on 28.2.2023. The directors representing SMTrack Berhad had been appointed on 
28.12.2022 and SMTrack Berhad has gained control as a holding company on 1.1.2023. 

 
The assets acquired and liabilities recognised as at the date of acquisition were as follows: 

 
Fair value of identified assets and liabilities   
  Fair value   V Ultimate’s 
  recognised   carrying 

  on acquisition  amount 
     
Property, Plant and Equipment  9,857,671  7,978,550 
Trade and other receivables  15,693,654  15,693,654 
Cash and cash equivalents  1,166,252  1,166,252 
Inventories  4,380,093  4,380,093 
ROU assets  623,699  623,699 
Trade and other payables  (6,723,227)  (6,723,227) 
Borrowings  (10,914,596)  (10,914,596) 
Lease liabilities  (730,772)  (730,772) 
Current tax liabilities  (3,319,283)  (3,319,283) 
Deferred tax liabilities  (346,457)  (158,545) 
Net identified assets acquired  9,687,034  7,995,825 
     
Net cash outflow arising from acquisition of subsidiary     
Purchase consideration settled in cash  -   
Cash and cash equivalents acquired   1,166,252   
Bank overdraft  (404,016)   
  762,236   
     
Goodwill     
Fair value of consideration transferred  11,647,059   
Fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed 

 (9,687,034)   

Non controlling interests, based on their proportionate 
interest in the recognised amounts of the assets and 
liabilities of the acquiree 

  
6,780,924 

  

Goodwill on acquisition   8,740,949   
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11. Investment in subsidiaries (continued) 
 

In the previous reporting period: 
 

(a) On 19 July 2021, the Company incorporated a wholly-owned subsidiary, SMT Turbojet 
Resources Sdn Bhd (“STJ”), by subscribing to 100 ordinary shares representing 100% of the 
issued and paid-up share capital of STJ for a cash consideration of RM100.  

 
(b) On 28 December 2021, the Company incorporated a subsidiary, SMT Drones Tech Sdn Bhd 

(“SDT”), by subscribing to 90 ordinary shares representing 90% of the issued and paid-up 
share capital of SDT for a cash consideration of RM90.  

 
 

 Non-controlling interest (“NCI”) in subsidiary companies 
      
 V Ultimate 

Sdn Bhd 
 SMT Drones 

Tech Sdn 
Bhd 

 Asia Cargo 
Wings Sdn 

Bhd 
 30.6.2023  30.6.2023  30.6.2023 
 RM  RM  RM 
Current assets 19,522,412  10  722,957 
Non-current assets 7,531,723  -  1,400 
Current liabilities (10,432,582)  (15,203)  (1,941,534) 
Non-current liabilities (8,357,269)  -  - 
Net assets 8,264,284  (15,193)  (1,217,177) 
      
Carrying amount of NCI as at 30.06.2023 6,968,845  (1,519)  (484,664) 
      
Profit/Total comprehensive income for the 
financial period  268,460  (15,293)  (780,902) 

Profit/Total comprehensive income allocated to 
NCI for the financial period 187,922  (1,529)  (312,361) 

      
Ownership interest and voting rights percentage 
held by NCI 30%  90%  60% 

      
The remaining non-controlling interest of the Group is individually immaterial. 
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12. Intangible asset 
 

   (Restated)   
   Franchise  Total 
Group/Company   RM  RM 
Cost (Restated)      
At 1 August 2020   -  - 
Addition (Restated)   9,240,000  9,240,000 
At 31 December 2021   9,240,000  9,240,000 
Addition    -  - 
At 30 June 2023   9,240,000  9,240,000 
      
Accumulated depreciation      
At 1 August 2020   -  - 
Charge for the period   -  - 
At 31 December 2021   -  - 
Charge for the period   -  - 
At 30 June 2023   -  - 
      
Carrying amount      
At 30 June 2023   9,240,000  9,240,000 
At 31 December 2021   9,240,000  9,240,000 

 
 
13. Right of use asset 
 

 Outlet  Building  Office  Total 
Group RM  RM  RM  RM 
Cost        
At 31 December 2021 -  -    - 
Acquisition through business 
combination -  6,434,124  -  6,434,124 

Additions 369,452  -  661,893  1,031,345 
At 30 June 2023 369,452  6,434,124  661,893  7,465,469 
        
Accumulated depreciation        
At 31 December 2021 -  -  -  - 
Acquisition through business 
combination -  5,810,425  -  5,810,425 

Charge for the period 77,207  357,807  128,701  563,715 
At 30 June 2023 77,207  6,168,232  128,701  6,374,140 
        
Carrying amount        
At 30 June 2023 292,246  265,892  533,191  1,091,329 
At 31 December 2021 -  -  -  - 
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13. Right of use asset (continued) 
 

     Office  Total 
Company     RM  RM 
Cost         
At 31 December 2021       - 
Additions     661,893  661,893 
At 30 June 2023     661,893  661,893 
        
Accumulated depreciation        
At 31 December 2021     -  - 
Charge for the period     128,702  128,702 
At 30 June 2023     128,702  128,702 
        
Carrying amount        
At 30 June 2023     533,191  533,191 
At 31 December 2021     -  - 

 
 
14. Goodwill on consolidation  
 

 Group 
 30.6.2023  31.12.2021  1.8.2020 
 RM  RM  RM 
At beginning of period/year 2,776,548  2,776,548  - 
Arising during the period/year 9,029,654  -  2,776,548 
 11,806,202  2,776,548  2,776,548 
Less : Allowance for impairment losses (2,776,548)  -  - 

At end of period/year 9,029,654  2,776,548  2,776,548 

 
14.1 Impairment testing for goodwill on consolidation 
  

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Group’s commercial air 
transport operating segments which represent the lowest level cash-generating unit within the 
Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.  

 
The goodwill impairment test of cash-generating unit is determined based on its value in use. 
Value in use is determined by discounting the future cash flows expected to be generated from 
the cash-generating unit and the following are the key assumptions: 

 
 Cash flows were projected based on past experience, actual operating results and the 3 to 5 

years business plan including its terminal value. 
 

14.2 Details of goodwill 
 As at 
  30.6.2023 
Goodwill on acquisition of business by AHA Food and Beverages Sdn 

Bhd 
 288,615 

Goodwill on consolidation of V Ultimate Sdn Bhd 8,741,039 
 9,029,654 



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 JUNE 2023
(Cont’d)

SMTRACK BERHAD  [Registrat ion No.:20040100918 (639421-X)] ANNUAL REPORT 2023

90

 
15.  Investment in an associate 
 

 Group and Company 
 30.6.2023  31.12.2021  1.8.2020 
  RM  RM  RM 
At cost      
At beginning/end of period/year 15,029  15,029  15,029 
      
Accumulated impairment loss      
At beginning/end of period/year (15,029)  (15,029)  (15,029) 

Carrying amount -  -  - 
 

 The details of the associate is as follows: 

 Country of Group’s effective interest  
Name of associate incorporation 30.6.2023 31.12.2021 Principal activities 
     
Smart Tag Technologies 

Sdn Bhd# 
Malaysia 30% 30% Dormant 

Not
 
 
16. Trade receivables 

 Group 
     (Restated)   
   30.6.2023  31.12.2021  1.8.2020 
   RM  RM  RM 
Trade receivables   16,302,980  2,157,877  7,574,705 
Less: Allowance for expected credit 

losses 
   

(8,554,012)  
 

(526,000) 
  

(3,845,612) 

   7,748,968  1,631,877  3,729,093 

 
 Company 
     (Restated)   
   30.6.2023  31.12.2021  1.8.2020 
   RM  RM  RM 
Trade receivables   -  53,952  7,424,277 
Less: Allowance for expected credit 

losses 
   

-  
 

- 
  

(3,695,184) 

   -  53,952  3,729,093 

 
The Group and Company normal trade credit terms is 30 days (31.12.2021: 30 days to 120 days). 
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16. Trade receivables (continued) 
 

The movements in the allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables during the 
reporting period are as follows: 
 

 Group 
     (Restated)   
   30.6.2023  31.12.2021  1.8.2020 
   RM  RM  RM 
At beginning of period/year   526,000  3,845,612  3,680,962 
Allowance for expected credit losses   8,028,012 664,828  164,650 
Writte offs   - (3,984,440)  - 

At end of period/year   8,554,012  526,000  3,845,612 

 
 Company 
     (Restated)   
   30.6.2023  31.12.2021  1.8.2020 
   RM  RM  RM 
At beginning of period/year   -  3,695,184  3,680,962 
Allowance for expected credit losses   - 138,828  14,222 
Writte offs   - (3,834,012)  - 

At end of period/year   -  -  3,695,184 

 
The following table details the credit risk exposure on the trade receivables. 

 
 Group 
     (Restated)   
   30.6.2023  31.12.2021  1.8.2020 
   RM  RM  RM 
Not past due   382,802  -  - 
More than 90 days past due   15,920,178 2,157,877  7,574,705 
   16,302,980 2,157,877  7,574,705 
Less : Allowance for expected credit 

losses 
  (8,554,012) (526,000)  (3,845,612) 

   7,748,968 1,631,877  3,729,093 
 

 Company 
     (Restated)   
   30.6.2023  31.12.2021  1.8.2020 
   RM  RM  RM 
Not past due   -  -  - 
More than 90 days past due   - 53,952  7,424,277 
   - 53,952  7,424,277 
Less : Allowance for expected credit 

losses 
  - -  (3,695,184) 

   - 53,952  3,729,093 



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 JUNE 2023
(Cont’d)

SMTRACK BERHAD  [Registrat ion No.:20040100918 (639421-X)] ANNUAL REPORT 2023

92

17. Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 
 

 Group 
    (Restated)  (Restated) 
  30.6.2023  31.12.2021  1.8.2020 

Non-current   RM  RM  RM 
Advances made to the Joint –
Operation Entity (Note 17.3)   4,943,900  4,943,900  4,943,900 

Other receivables   2,200,000  2,200,000  2,200,000 

   7,143,900  7,143,900  7,143,900 
Less: Allowance of impairment loss   (7,143,900)  (7,143,900)  (7,143,900) 

   -  -  - 
        
 Group 
     (Restated)  (Restated) 
   30.6.2023  31.12.2021  1.8.2020 

Current   RM  RM  RM 
Amount due from subsidiaries   -  -  - 
Amount due from an associate   380,000  380,000  380,000 
Amount due from a related party   18,320  -  - 
Other receivables    11,750,544  554,260  3,210,872 
Deposits   8,872,494  3,725,176  5,276,597 
Prepayments   -  -  2,000,000 
   21,021,358  4,659,436  10,867,469 
Less: Allowance of impairment loss   (6,985,413)  (4,170,000)  (7,317,059) 
   14,035,945  489,436  3,550,410 

 
 Company 

    (Restated)  (Restated) 
  30.6.2023  31.12.2021  1.8.2020 

Non-current   RM  RM  RM 
Advances made to the Joint –
Operation Entity (Note 17.3)   4,943,900  4,943,900  4,943,900 

Other receivables   2,200,000  2,200,000  2,200,000 

   7,143,900  7,143,900  7,143,900 
Less: Allowance of impairment loss   (7,143,900)  (7,143,900)  (7,143,900) 

   -  -  - 
        
 Company 
     (Restated)  (Restated) 
   30.6.2023  31.12.2021  31.7.2020 

Current   RM  RM  RM 
Amount due from subsidiaries   4,544,700  2,546,689  2,309,315 
Amount due from an associate   380,000  380,000  380,000 
Amount due from a related party   -  -   
Other receivables    35,631  394,520  97,195 
Deposits   8,784,772  4,881,663  - 
Prepayments   -  -  7,023,590 
   13,745,103  8,202,872  9,810,100 
Less: Allowance of impairment loss   (6,928,845)  (4,996,845)  (7,091,220) 
   6,816,258  3,206,027  2,718,880 
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17. Other receivables, deposits and prepayments (continued) 
 
17.1 Amount due from subsidiaries and associate 
 

The amount due from subsidiairies and associate represent unsecured interest free advances 
receivable on demand. 
 

17.2 Allowance for impairment loss  
 
 The movements in the allowance of impairment losses of other receivables, deposits and 

prepayments during the reporting period are as follows: 
 

Group Company 
  (Restated)    (Restated) 

1.1.2022  1.8.2020  1.1.2022  1.8.2020 
to  to  to  to 

30.6.2023  31.12.2021  30.6.2023  31.12.2021 
RM  RM  RM  RM 

At beginning of period/year 11,313,900  14,460,959  12,140,745  14,235,120 
Allowance for the period/year 2,883,413  -  2,000,000  826,845 
Write offs (68,000)  (3,147,059)  (68,000)  (2,921,220) 

At end of period/year 14,129,313  11,313,900  14,072,745  12,140,745 
 
17.3 Advances to the Joint Operation Entity 
 

On 10 March 2016, the Company entered into a joint venture agreement (“JVA”) with Cherish 
Words Sdn Bhd (“CWSB”) to form an unincorporated joint operation to participate in a joint 
venture for subcontracting work. Subsequently, the JVA was terminated on 28 July 2017 by 
mutual consent, and the outstanding amount receivable of RM4,943,900 will be settled via contra 
of properties owned by CWSB. 

 
 
18. Inventories 
 

Group 
      (Restated) 
  30.6.2023  31.12.2021  1.8.2020 
  RM  RM  RM 
       

Trading goods, at cost   4,316,504  -  - 
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19.  Share capital 
 

 Group and Company 
 30.6.2023  31.12.2021     
 No. of  No. of     
 ordinary  ordinary  30.6.2023  31.12.2021 

 shares  shares  RM  RM 
Issued and fully paid:        
At beginning of period 564,189,149  176,690,656  63,889,978  23,655,293 
Issuance of shares pursuant  

to: 
       

 - private placement -  144,538,600  -  14,770,184 
 - special issue 211,764,705  -  11,647,059  - 
 - conversion of redeemable         
     convertible notes (Note 25) 205,000,000  242,959,893  19,138,945  25,464,501 
- share issuance scheme        
     exercised 210,828,150  -  9,932,869  - 
 - SIS reserves transfer to         
     share capital upon 
     exercised 

 
- 

  
- 

  
3,745,332 

  
- 

At end of period 1,191,782,004  564,189,149  108,354,183  63,889,978 
 

During the reporting period, the Company issued the following shares by way of: 
 
(i) Conversion of RM20,500,000 redeemable convertible notes to 205,000,000 new ordinary 

shares at an issue price of RM0.10 per share. Issuance costs of RM1,361,055 which were 
directly attributable to the issue of shares have been netted against the cash consideration 
received; 
 

(ii) Issuance of 210,828,150 new ordinary shares pursuant to the exercise of SIS options at the 
exercise price ranging from RM0.0272 to RM0.07; and 

 
(iii) Special issue of 211,764,705 new ordinary shares with an issue price of RM0.085 per 

share. The shares were issued for payment for the purchase consideration for the 
proposed acquisition of 30% equity interest in V Ultimate Sdn. Bhd. The fair value of the 
share price on the issuance date is RM0.055. 

 
The new ordinary shares issued rank pari passu with the then existing ordinary shares of the 
Company. 

 
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the 
Company. All ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restrictions. 

 
In the previous reporting period, the Company increased its issued and paid up share capital via 
the following: 

 
(i) Private placement of 53,007,100 new ordinary shares at an issue price of RM0.1577 per 

share for cash. Issuance costs of RM333,618 which were directly attributable to the issue 
of shares have been netted against the cash consideration received. The shares were 
issued for working capital purposes;  

 
(ii) Conversion of RM25,000,000 redeemable convertible notes to 217,959,893 new ordinary 

shares at an issue price of RM0.1147 per share;  
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19. Share capital (continued) 
 

In the previous reporting period, the Company increased its issued and paid up share capital via 
the following: (continued) 
 
(iii) Conversion of RM2,500,000 redeemable convertible notes to 25,000,000 new ordinary 

shares at an issue price of RM0.10 per share; and 
 
(iv) Private placement of 91,531,500 new ordinary shares at an issue price of RM0.0747 per 

share for cash. Issuance costs of RM92,822 which were directly attributable to the issue of 
shares have been netted against the cash consideration received. The shares were issued 
for the expenses in respect of the expansion of its air cargo business.  

 
19.1 Share issuance scheme options 
 

The Company implemented an Employees’ Share Issuance Scheme (“SIS”) which is governed by 
the SIS By-Laws approved by its shareholders at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 17 
May 2017. The effective date for the implementation of the SIS is 26 October 2017. 

 
The salient features of the SIS are as follows: 

 
(a) The SIS  is administered by the Option Committee of the Company; 

 
(b) Employees (including directors) of the Company or its subsidiaries shall be eligible to 

participate in the SIS, if as at the date of offer, the employee: 
 

(i) has attained the age of eighteen (18) years; 
(ii) is employed by a company in the Group, which is not dormant. 
 
The allocation criteria of new ordinary shares comprised in the options to eligible 
employees shall be determined at the discretion of the Option Committee. The participation 
of an Executive Director of the Company in the SIS shall be approved by the shareholders 
of the Company in the general meeting; 

 
(c) The total number of new shares to be offered pursuant to the SIS shall not be more than 

30% of the Company’s issued and paid up share capital of the Company; 
 

(d) The SIS shall be in force for a period of five (5) years with an extension period of another 
five (5) years from the first grant date; 

 
(e) The option price shall be fixed at the higher of the five (5) days weigted average market 

price of the shares of the Company preceeding the date of offer with a discount of not more 
than 10%; 

 
(f) The number of shares so offered shall not be less than one hundred (100) shares nor more 

than the maximum number of allocations granted by the Option Committee in multiples of 
one hundred (100) shares; and 

 
(g) All new ordinary shares issued upon exercise of the options granted under the SIS will rank 

pari passu in all respects with the existing ordinary shares of the Company, provided 
always that new ordinary shares so allotted and issued, will not be entitled to any 
dividends, rights, allotment and/or other distributions, declared by the Company which 
entitlement thereof precedes the allotment date of the new ordinary shares allotted 
pursuant to the exercise of the options under the SIS. 
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20. Reserves 

   Group 
     (Restated)  (Restated) 
   30.6.2023  31.12.2021  1.8.2020 
   RM  RM  RM 

Distributable:        
Accumulated losses   (35,914,956)  (23,092,488)  (15,302,650) 
Non-distributable:        
Employee share option reserve   565,403  2,990,315  - 

   (35,349,553)  (20,102,173)  (15,302,650) 
 

   Company 
     (Restated)  (Restated) 
   30.6.2023  31.12.2021  1.8.2020 
   RM  RM  RM 

Distributable:        
Accumulated losses   (27,092,391)  (20,865,527)  (14,849,837) 
Non-distributable:        
Employee share option reserve   565,403  2,990,315  - 

   (26,526,988)  (17,875,212)  (14,849,837) 
 

Employee share option reserve represents the equity settled share options granted to employees. 
The reserve is made up of the cumulative value of services received from employees recorded 
over the vesting period commencing from the grant date of equity settled share options, and is 
reduced by the expiry or exercise of the share options. 

 
 
21. Lease liabilities 
 

 Group 
 Outlet  Building  Office  Total 
 RM  RM  RM  RM 
Future minimum lease payment        
- Not later than one year 166,080  181,111  141,600  488,791 
- Later than one year but not later  
than five years 170,080  149,730  542,800  862,610 

 336,160  330,841  684,400  1,351,401 
Less : Future finance charge (37,885)  (21,298)  (126,033)  (185,216) 
 298,275  309,543  558,367  1,166,185 
        
Present value of lease liabilities        
- Not later than one year 145,488  165,992  97,359  408,839 
- Later than one year but not later  
than five years 152,787  143,551  461,008  757,346 

 298,275  309,543  558,367  1,166,185 
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21. Lease liabilities (continued) 
 Company 
     Office  Total 
     RM  RM 
Future minimum lease payment        
- Not later than one year     141,600  141,600 
- Later than one year but not later  
than five years     542,800  542,800 

     684,400  684,400 
Less : Future finance charge     (126,033)  (126,033) 
     558,367  558,367 
        
Present value of lease liabilities        
- Not later than one year     97,359  97,359 
- Later than one year but not later  
than five years     461,008  461,008 

     558,367  558,367 
        

 
22. Trade payables 
 

The normal trade credits granted to the Group and Company, range from 30 days to 90 days 
(31.12.2021: 30 days to 120 days). 

 
 
23. Other payables and accruals 

   Group 
     (Restated)  (Restated) 
   30.6.2023  31.12.2021  1.8.2020 
   RM  RM  RM 
Amount due to subsidiaries   -  -  - 
Amount due to directors   2,074,691  -  - 
Amount due to a related party   278,054  -  - 
Other payables   110,431  12,458,381  1,372,797 
Accruals   3,616,731  133,608  153,585 

   6,079,907  12,591,989  1,526,382 

 
   Company 
     (Restated)  (Restated) 
   30.6.2023  31.12.2021  1.8.2020 
   RM  RM  RM 
Amount due to subsidiaries   237,757  1,166,385  - 
Amount due to directors   12,000  -  - 
Amount due to a related party   -  -  - 
Other payables   82,137  10,620,235  556,087 
Accruals   324,357  105,078  422,060 

   656,251  11,891,698  978,147 

 
The amounts due to a subsidiary/directors/a related party represents unsecured interest free 
advances repayable on demand. 
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24. Borrowings 
 

   Group 
     (Restated)  (Restated) 
   30.6.2023  31.12.2021  1.8.2020 
   RM  RM  RM 
Current liabilities        
Secured :         
Bank borrowings   2,035,346  -  - 
Borrowings from licensed money lender   7,000,000  -  - 
Hire purchases   84,649  -  - 
   9,119,995  -  - 
Non current liabilities        
Secured :         
Bank borrowings   7,285,197  -  - 
Hire purchases   325,731  -  - 
Overdraft   444,245  -  - 
   8,055,173  -  - 

        
These borrowings, term loans, hire purchase and bank overdrafts details are as per below: 
 
i. Hire purchase interest is range from 3.27% to 7.5%. 
ii. Term loans and bank overdrafts interest is ranged from 3.5% to 13.69%, and are secured by: 

- Gurantee by Syarikat Jaminan Pembiayaan Periagaan Berhad: and 
- Joint and gurantee by certain of the directors of the Group. 

iii. Borrowings are borrowed from licensed money lender, with a 6% interest rate per annum with 
a 12-months loan term. 

 
 
25. Redeemable convertible notes 

 Group and Company 
 30.6.2023  31.12.2021 

 RM  RM 
At beginning of period -  - 
Issuance of redeemable convertible notes (“RCN”) 19,138,945  25,464,501 
Conversion of RCN into ordinary shares (Note 19) (19,138,945)  (25,464,501) 

At end of period -  - 

 
The Company has entered into a subscription agreement dated 20 October 2020 for the issuance 
of 1.0% redeemable convertible notes (“RCN”) with an aggregrate value of up to RM120,000,000 
comprising four (4) tranches of a nominal value of RM25,000,000 first tranche, RM25,000,000 for 
the second tranche, RM35,000,000 for the third tranch and RM35,000,000 for the fourth tranch. 
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25. Redeemable convertible notes (continued) 

 
The salient features of the RCN are as follows: 
 

RCN Maturity Date : 60 months (5 years) from the closing date of the first sub-tranche 
of Tranche 1 Notes 

   
Dividend : Cumulative preferential dividend at 1% per annum based on the 

RCN issue price payable semi-annually. 
   
Conversion Right : Any RCN may be converted into new ordinary shares of the 

Company, at the option of the RCN holders, at any time, during 
before the RCN Maturity Date 

   
RCN Conversion Price : The RCN Conversion Price shall be 80% of the average closing 

price of the Company for any 3 consecutive business days as 
selected by the RCN holders during the 45 business days 
immediately preceding the relevant conversion date of the RCN, 
subject to the RCN Minimum Conversion Price 

   
RCN Conversion Cap : The RCN holders, collectively or together with their affiliates, 

shall not at any time hold more than 10% interest in the enlarged 
total number of ordinary shares of the Company without the prior 
approval of the Company 

   
RCN Maximum Conversion 
Shares 

: 450,000,000 ordinary shares 

   
RCN Minimum Conversion 
Price 

: Minimum conversion price of RM0.10, at which RCN can be 
converted into ordinary shares 

   
RCN Non-Default 
Redemption amount  

: 110% of the issue price of the RCN 

   
RCN Redemption Period : The period from the issue date to the RCN Maturity Date 
   
RCN Conversion Downside 
Redemption 

: The Company may redeem the RCN presented for conversion in 
cash at the RCN Conversion Redemption Price if the RCN 
Conversion Price is less than or equal to 65% of the daily 
average of the traded volume weighted average prices of the 
Company’s shares for the 45 consecutive business days period 
prior to issue date in respect of each tranche 

Ranking of the Conversion 
Shares 

: The ordinary shares issued from conversion of RCN shall, upon 
allotment and issuance, rank equally in all respects with the then 
existing ordinary shares 
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26. Significant related party disclosures 
 
26.1 Compensation of key management personnel 
 

The key management personnel comprises mainly executive directors of the Company whose 
remuneration is disclosed in Note 6. 

 
 
27. Segment information 
 

Segment information is primarily presented in respect of the Group’s business segment which is 
based on the Group’s management and internal reporting structure. Management monitors the 
operating results of its business segment separately for the purposes of making decision about 
resource allocation and performance assessment. 

 
(i) Reporting segment 

 
During the reporting period, the Group diversified its business to be involved the carrying 
out beauty and wellness business. Consequently, the Group has three reportable segments 
as follows: 
- Investment holding and others 
- Delivery segment 
- Beauty and wellness segment 

 
The above reportable segments are predominantly operating in Malaysia. 

 
 (Restated)     
 Investment     
1.8.2020 holding and   (Restated)  (Restated) 
to others  Delivery  Consolidated 
31.12.2021 RM  RM  RM 
      
Revenue      
Revenue from external customers 6,088,657  54,153  6,142,810 
      
Results      
Loss before tax (7,316,176)  (733,762)  (8,049,938) 
Income tax expense (33,404)  -  (33,404) 

Net loss for the period (7,349,580)  (733,762)  (8,083,342) 
Non-controlling interests  -  (293,505)  (293,505) 
Loss attributable to owners of the 

Company (7,349,580)  (440,257)  (7,789,837) 
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27. Segment information (continued) 
 

 (Restated)     
 Investment     
 holding and   (Restated)  (Restated) 
31.12.2021 others  Delivery  Consolidated 
Assets and liabilities RM  RM  RM 
      
Segment assets 54,819,910  1,420,491  56,240,401 
      
Segment liabilities 10,768,123  1,856,766  12,624,889 
      
Other information       
Capital expenditure 39,976,628  -  39,976,628 
Depreciation on      
 - plant and equipment 31,292  -  31,292 
      
Non cash items other than depreciation 

and amortisation      
Allowance for expected credit losses (664,828)  -  (664,828) 
Plant and equipment written off (7,027,056)  -  (7,027,056) 
Share option expenses 2,990,315  -  2,990,315 
      

 
 Investment    Beauty   
1.1.2022 holding     and    
to and others  Delivery   wellness  Consolidated 
30.6.2023 RM  RM  RM  RM 
        
Revenue        
Revenue from external 

customers 9,444,623 
 

468,476  6,074,644  15,987,743 
        
Results        
Loss before tax (15,336,908)  (780,902)  596,299  (15,521,511) 
Income tax expense (89,400)  -  (327,839)  (417,239) 

Net loss for the period (15,426,308)  (780,902)  268,460  (15,938,750) 
Non-controlling interests  (1,528)  (312,361)  187,922  (125,967) 
Loss attributable to owners 

of the Company (15,424,780)  (468,541)  80,538  (15,812,783) 
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27. Segment information (continued) 
 

 Investment    Beauty   
 holding     and    
 and others  Delivery   wellness  Consolidated 
30.6.2023 RM  RM  RM  RM 
        
Segment assets 84,271,429  724,357  27,054,135  112,049,921 
        
Segment liabilities 11,831,191  1,941,534  18,789,851  32,562,576 
        
        
Other information         
Capital expenditure 17,015,052  1,400  -  17,016,452 
Depreciation on        
 - plant and equipment 79,462  -  712,719  792,181 
        

Non cash items other 
than depreciation and 
amortisation 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Allowance for expected 
credit losses (10,414593)  (147,929)  (348,903)  (10,911,425) 

Share option expenses 3,720,735  -  -  3,720,735 
        

 
(i) Major customers 

 
Revenue from transactions with major customers that individually accounted for 10 percent 
or more of the Group’s revenue are summarised below: 

 
 1.1.2022  1.8.2020   
 to  to   
 30.6.2023  31.12.2021   
 RM  RM  Segment 
Customer A -  4,103,925  Investment holding and others  

Customer B -  1,981,132  Investment holding and others  
Customer C 2,379,950  -  Investment holding and others  
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28. Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risk management 
 
28.1  Categories of financial instruments 
 

The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the reporting date: 
 

 Group Company 
   (Restated)    (Restated) 
 30.6.2023  31.12.2021  30.6.2023  31.12.2021 
 RM  RM  RM  RM 

Financial assets        

Amortised cost:        
- Trade and other receivables 21,784,913  2,121,313  6,816,258  3,259,979 
- Cash and bank balances 384,164  2,157,129  70,104  2,060,784 

 22,169,077  4,278,442  6,886,362  5,320,763 

Financial liabilities        
Amortised cost:        

- Trade and other payables 10,004,968  12,591,989  571,259  11,891,698 

- Borrowings 17,175,168  -  -  - 

- Lease liabilities 1,166,185  -  558,367  - 

  28,346,321  12,591,989  1,129,626  11,891,698 
 
28.2 Financial risk management policies and objectives 
 

The Group’s overall financial risk management programme seeks to minimise potential adverse 
effects on financial performance of the Group. 

 
The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. 

 There has been no change in the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in 
which it manages and measures the risk. 

 
Credit risk management 

 
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade and other receivables and bank 
balances. The Group minimises credit risk by dealing exclusively with high credit worthy 
counterparties 
 
The Group’s credit risk grading framework for expected credit losses (“ECL”) model is as follows: 

 

Category Definition 
Basis for recognition of 
ECL 

Performing The debtor has a low risk of default and a 
strong capacity to meet contractual cash flows. 

12-month ECL 

Doubtful Amount is > 30 days past due or there has been 
a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition. 

Lifetime ECL – not credit 
impaired 

Default Amount is > 180 days past due or there is 
evidence indicating the asset is credit impaired. 

Lifetime ECL – credit 
impaired 

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in 
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no 
realistic prospect of recovery or the debtor is 
two years past due. 

Amount is written off 
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28. Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risk management (continued) 
 
28.2 Financial risk management policies and objectives (continued) 

 
Credit risk management (continued) 

 
i) Trade receivables 

 
For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach to measure the loss 
allowance at lifetime expected credit losses. In determining the ECL of individual trade 
receivables, management has taken into account the historical default experience and the 
financial position of the counterparties, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors 
and general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate, in estimating 
the probability of default of each of these financial assets occurring, as well as the loss upon 
default in each case. There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant 
assumptions made during the current reporting period. 
 

ii) Other receivables 
 
Other receivables other than the amount due from subsidiaries of RM4,526,380 (31.12.2021: 
RM2,546,689) are considered to have low credit risk as they are not due for payment at the 
end of the reporting period and there has been no significant increase in the risk of default 
on the receivables since initial recognition. Accordingly, for the purpose of impairment 
assessment for these receivables, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-
month ECL. The loss allowance for the amount due from subsidiaries is measured at an 
amount equal to the lifetime ECL as there has been a significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition. In determining the ECL, management has taken into account the historical 
default experience and the financial position of the counterparties, adjusted for factors that 
are specific to the debtors and general economic conditions of the industry in which the 
debtors operate, in estimating the probability of default of each of these financial assets 
occurring, as well as the loss upon default in each case. There has been no change in the 
estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the current reporting period. 

 
iii) Cash and bank balances 

 
The cash and bank balances are held with reputable financial institutions with high credit 
ratings and no history of default. Impairment on cash and bank balances has been measured 
on a 12-month ECL and reflects the short term maturities of the exposures. The Group 
considers that its cash and bank balances have low credit risk based on the external credit 
ratings of the financial institutions. 

 
Liquidity risk management 

 
The objective of liquidity management is to ensure that the Company has sufficient funds to meet 
its contractual and financial obligations. The Company manages it liquidity risk by maintaining a 
level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by management for working capital 
purposes so as to mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flow. The Company’s objective is to 
maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the support from directors 
or shareholders. 
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28. Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risk management (continued) 
 
28.2 Financial risk management policies and objectives (continued) 

 
Liquidity risk management 
 

the statement of financial position based on contractual undiscounted payments. 
 
 

 1 year  1 to 5  Over    
2023 or less  years  5 years  Total 
Group RM  RM  RM  RM 
Financial assets        
Trade receivables 7,748,968  -  -  7,748,968 
Other receivables, deposits 
and prepayments 14,035,945  -  -  14,035,945 

Cash and cash equivalents 384,164  -  -  384,164 
Total undiscounted financial 
asset 22,169,077  -  -  22,169,077 

        
Financial liabilities        
Trade payables 3,925,061  -  -  3,925,061 
Other payables and accruals 6,079,907  -  -  6,079,907 
Borrowings 10,019,529  7,744,977  1,988,704  19,753,210 
Lease liabilities 488,791  862,610  -  1,351,401 
Total undiscounted financial 
liabilities 20,513,288  8,607,587  1,988,704  31,109,579 

Total net undiscounted 
financial liabilities 1,655,789  (8,607,587)  (1,988,704)  (8,940,502) 

        
 

 1 year  1 to 5  Over    
2022 or less  years  5 years  Total 
Group RM  RM  RM  RM 
Financial assets        
Trade receivables 1,631,877  -  -  1,631,877 
Other receivables, deposits 
and prepayments 489,436  -  -  489,436 

Cash and cash equivalents 2,157,129  -  -  2,157,129 
Total undiscounted financial 
asset 4,278,442  -  -  4,278,442 

        
Financial liabilities        
Other payables and accruals 12,591,989  -  -  12,591,989 
Total undiscounted financial 
liabilities 12,591,989  -  -  12,591,989 

Total net undiscounted 
financial liabilities (8,313,547)  -  -  (8,313,547) 

       



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 JUNE 2023

(Cont’d)

SMTRACK BERHAD  [Registrat ion No.:20040100918 (639421-X)]ANNUAL REPORT 2023

107

 
28. Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risk management (continued) 
 
28.2 Financial risk management policies and objectives (continued) 
 

Liquidity risk management 
 

 1 year  1 to 5  Over    
2023 or less  years  5 years  Total 
Company RM  RM  RM  RM 
Financial assets        
Other receivables, deposits 
and prepayments 6,816,258  -  -  6,816,258 

Cash and cash equivalents 70,104  -  -  70,104 
Total undiscounted financial 
asset 6,886,362  -  -  6,886,362 

        
Financial liabilities        
Trade payables 2,473  -  -  2,473 
Other payables and accruals 656,251  -  -  656,251 
Lease liabilities 141,600  542,800  -  684,400 
Total undiscounted financial 
liabilities 800,324  542,800  -  1,343,124 

Total net undiscounted 
financial assets 6,086,038  (542,800)  -  5,543,238 

        
 

 1 year  1 to 5  Over    
2022 or less  years  5 years  Total 
Company RM  RM  RM  RM 
Financial assets        
Trade and other receivables 53,952  -  -  53,952 
Other receivables and deposit 3,206,027  -  -  3,206,027 
Cash and cash equivalents 2,060,784  -  -  2,060,784 
Total undiscounted financial 
asset 5,320,763  -  -  5,320,763 

        
Financial liabilities        
Other payables and accruals 11,891,698  -  -  11,891,698 
Total undiscounted financial 
liabilities 11,891,698  -  -  11,891,698 

Total net undiscounted 
financial liabilities (6,570,935)  -  -  (6,570,935) 

        
Market risk 

 
(a) Interest rate risk 

 
The Group’s lease liabilities and borrowings are exposed to a risk of change in their fair value 
due to changes in interest rates. The Group’s variable rate borowwings are exposed to a risk 
of change in cash flows due to changes in interest rates.  
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28. Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risk management (continued) 
 
28.2 Financial risk management policies and objectives (continued) 
 

Market risk (continued) 
 
(a) Interest rate risk (continued) 
 

The Group manages its interest rate risk exposure from interest bearing borrowings by 
obtaining financing with the most favourable interest rates in the market. The Group 
constantly monitors its interest rate risk by reviewing its debts portfolio to ensure favourables 
rates are obtained. The Group does not utilise interest swap contracts or other derivative 
instruments for trading or speculative purposes. 

 
The interest rate profile of the Group’s significant interest-bearing financial instruments, based 
on carrying amount at the end of the reporting period was:  

 Group 
 30.6.2023 

 RM 
Fixed rate instruments  
Borrowings  7,000,000 
  
Floating rate instruments  
Bank borrowings 2,035,346 
Overdraft 7,285,197 
 9,320,543 

  
29. Fair value of assets and liabilities 

(a) Fair Value Hierarchy 

The fair values of the assets and liabilities are analysed into level 1 to 3 as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 
(b) Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities that are Carried at Fair Value 

The fair value of the financial assets and financial liabilities by classes that are carried at fair 
values  are as follows: 
  2023 
  Carrying amount  Fair value 
  RM  RM 
     
Leasehold land and buildings  2,679,852  2,929,383 
     
Lease liabilities  1,166,185  1,166,090 
     
Borrowings  16,730,923  13,732,849 

Level 1: Fair value measurements derive from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
 

Level 2: Fair value measurements derive from inputs other than quoted prices included 
within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or 
indirectly. 
 

Level 3: Fair value measurements derive from valuation techniques that include inputs for 
the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs). 
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29.       Fair value of assets and liabilities (continued) 
 

(c) Fair Value of Financial Instruments by Classes that are not Carried at Fair Value and 
Whose Carrying Amounts are not Reasonable Approximation of Fair Value. 

 
The Group and the company does not have any assets and liabilities that are not carried at 
fair value. 

(d) Trade and Other Receivables, Cash and Cash Equivalents, Bank Borrowings, Trade and 
Other Payables.  
 
The carrying amount of these financial assets and liabilities are reasonable approximation 
of fair value, either due to their short-term nature of that they are floating rate instruments 
that are re-priced at market interest rates on or near the reporting date. 
 
 

30. Capital structure and capital risk management 
 

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be able to continue as a going 
concern while providing an adequate return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt 
and equity balance. 

 
The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Group manages the capital 
structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk 
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the 
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholder, return capital to shareholder, issue 
new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt. 

 
As at the reporting date, the Group’s strategy was unchanged from 31.12 2022 which is to finance 
wholly by equity. 

 



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 JUNE 2023
(Cont’d)

SMTRACK BERHAD  [Registrat ion No.:20040100918 (639421-X)] ANNUAL REPORT 2023

110

 
31.  Prior year adjustments 
 

The prior year adjustments are in respect of below: 
- Ommision of recognition of drone and its intangible assets  
- Ommision of recognition of liabilities 
- Written off of assets and liabilities omitted 

 
These fundamental errors have now been recognised by way of retrospective adjustments. The 
effects of the fundamental errors on the Group’s financial statements are as follows: 

 

  

As 
previously 

reported  
Prior year 

adjustments  As restated 
   RM  RM  RM 
Group        
Statement of comprehensive income for 

the period ended 31 December 2021        
Other operating income   23,773  5,174,485  5,198,258 
Administrative expenses   (9,805,803)  (5,463,013)  (15,268,816) 
Net loss/Total comprehensive loss for the 

period   (7,794,814)  (288,528)  (8,083,342) 
Net loss/Total comprehensive loss for the 

period attributable to:    
 

   
Owner of the Company   (7,456,219)  (333,618)  (7,789,837) 
Non-controlling interests   (338,595)  45,090  (293,505) 

        
Statement of financial position as at 31 

December 2021 
       

Non current assets        
Property, plant and equipment   38,740,869  1,204,011  39,944,880 
Intangible asset   -  9,240,000  9,240,000 

        
Current assets        
Trade receivables   2,022,331  (390,454)  1,631,877 
Other receivables, deposits and 

prepayments   1,040,303  (550,867)  489,436 
        
Current liabilities        
Trade payables   (187,833)  187,833  - 
Other payables and accruals   (3,334,077)  (9,257,912)  (12,591,989) 
        
Equity        
Accumulated losses   (23,381,869)  289,381  (23,092,488) 
Non-controlling interests   (315,523)  143,230  (172,293) 
        
Statement of financial position as at 1 

August 2020 
       

Non current assets        
Property, plant and equipment   131,907  (73,929)  57,978 
        
Current assets        
Other receivables, deposits and 

prepayments 
   

3,554,790 
  

(4,380) 
  

3.550,410 
        
Current liabilities        
Other payables and accruals   (2,325,831)  799,449  (1,526,382) 
        
Equity        
Accumulated losses   (15,925,650)  623,000  (15,302,650) 
Non-controlling interests   23,062  98,140  121,202 
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31.  Prior year adjustments (continued) 

 

  

As 
previously 

reported  
Prior year 

adjustments  As restated 
   RM  RM  RM 
Company        
Statement of comprehensive income for 

the period ended 31 December 2021        
Other operating income   14,273  5,079,699  5,093,972 
Administrative expenses   (8,865,823)  (4,224,467)  (13,090,290) 
Net loss/Total comprehensive loss for the 

period   (6,870,922)  855,232  (6,015,690) 
        
Statement of financial position as at 31 

December 2021 
       

Non current assets        
Property, plant and equipment   38,684,880  1,260,000  39,944,880 
Intangible asset   -  9,240,000  9,240,000 

        
Current assets        
Trade receivables   444,406  (390,454)  53,952 
Other receivables, deposits and 

prepayments   2,496,027  710,000  3,206,027 
        
Current liabilities        
Trade payables   187,833  (187,833)  - 
Other payables and accruals   2215,342  9,676,356  11,891,698 
        
Equity        
Accumulated losses   (19,206,235)  1,331,023  (17,875,212) 
        
Statement of financial position as at 1 

August 2020 
       

Current liabilities        
Other payables and accruals   1,453,938  (475,791)  978,147 
        
Equity        
Accumulated losses   (15,325,628)  475,791  (14,849,837) 
        

 
Consequently, certain comparative figures in the related notes and statement of cash flows of the 
Group and the Company have also been reclassified for consistency in presentation. 

 
 
32. Events subsequent to the reporting date 
 

Subsequent to the reporting date, the Group: 
 
(i) Issuance of 31,191,180 new ordinary shares pursuant to the exercise of Share Issuance 

Scheme (“SIS”) options at the exercise price of RM0.0272.  
 
 
33. Comparative figures 
  

The comparative figures relate to the 17 months for the period 1 August 2020 to 31 December 
2021 and hence are not comparable to those of the current 18 months period ended 30 June 2023. 
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ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
AS AT 20 SEPTEMBER 2023

TOTAL NUMBER OF ISSUED SHARES : 1,204,649,650 
CLASSES OF SHARES : Ordinary Shares  
VOTING RIGHTS : One vote per ordinary share (on poll)  

 

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS  
 
Size of Shareholding No of 

Holders 
% No. of 

Shares 
% 

 
1 - 99 254 3.331 9,976 0.001 
100 – 1,000 798 10.466 331,632 0.028 
1,001 - 10,000 1,897 24.879 11,424,746 0.948 
10,001 – 100,000 3,150 41.311 141,503,950 11.746 
100,001 – 60,232,482*  1,526 20.013 1,051,379,346 87.277 
60,232,483 AND ABOVE**  0 0.000 0 0.000 

TOTAL                                                  7,625 100.00 1,204,649,650    100.00 
 
Remark: 
 
* Less than 5% of issued shares 
** 5% and above issued shares 

 
 

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER 
As per the Register of Substantial Shareholders  
 
Name Direct 

Interest 
% of Issued 

Capital 
Indirect 
Interest 

% of Issued 
Capital 

- - - - - 
TOTAL - - - - 

 
 
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES 
As per the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings  
Name Direct 

Interest 
% of Issued 

Capital 
Indirect 
Interest 

% of 
Issued 
Capital 

Datuk Azmi Bin Osman 45,037,477 3.739 - - 
Dato’ Sri Shaharuddin Bin Khalid - - - - 
Dato’ Zaidi Bin Mat Isa @ Hashim -  - - - 
Dato’ Saiful Nizam Bin Mohd Yusoff - - - - 
Datuk Seri Tan Choon Hwa 20,000,000 1.660 - - 
Mahnorizal Bin Mahat - - - - 
Cheah Ben Lee - - - - 
Chua Ser Terk - - - - 
Lam Hwan Chui - - - - 
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ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
AS AT 20 SEPTEMBER 2023

(Cont’d)

LIST OF THIRTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS  
 
No. Name No. of Shares % of 

Shares 
    
1. LEE KHIM HWA 27,600,000 2.291 
2. TASEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 

TA FIRST CREDIT SDN BHD FOR AZMI BIN OSMAN 
25,360,951 2.105 

3. TA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR WAI CHAN KEET 

22,035,100 1.829 

4. PANG CHIN KAN 20,800,000 1.727 
5. AZMI BIN OSMAN 19,676,526 1.633 
6. SAZINI BINTI ABDULLAH 18,514,730 1.537 
7. CGS-CIMB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 

PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR TAY HOCK SOON 
(MY1055) 

14,000,000 1.162 

8. MAYBANK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR CHAI YENG SUN 

13,024,400 1.081 

9. TAI TEAN SENG 12,852,500 1.067 
10. LIM SOOK CHEAN 12,533,889 1.040 
11. SALLY YAP PHAIK KEOW 12,000,000 0.996 
12. AMIRUL RAHMAN BIN ABDUL RAHIM 11,400,000 0.946 
13. TA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 

PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR TE SIOW CHENG 
11,000,000 0.913 

14. YAW CHIH JIA 10,231,700 0.849 
15. ALLIANCEGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 

PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR TAN CHOON HWA 
(7007201) 

10,000,000 0.830 

16. CGS-CIMB NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR TIN @ TAN PEK-HAN 
(MF00027) 

10,000,000 0.830 

17. JACOB MATHEW A/L K.M.MATHEW 10,000,000 0.830 
18. ONG NGOH ING @ ONG CHONG OON 9,000,000 0.747 
19. ABDUL HAMED BIN SEPAWI 8,550,000 0.710 
20. AMSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 

PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR LIM PANG KIAM 
8,500,000 0.706 

21. BOO LEAN TAT 8,500,000 0.706 
22. YONG YOOK SENG 7,083,200 0.588 
23. AMSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 

PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR TAN CHOON HWA 
7,000,000 0.581 

24. AMSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR TIN @ TAN PEK-HAN 

6,500,000 0.540 

25. PHEH SIEW KENG 6,133,600 0.509 
26. LOW TAI HWEE 5,100,000 0.423 
27. KENANGA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD 

PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR MOHAMED FAROZ 
BIN MOHAMED JAKEL 

5,000,000 0.415 

28. KOH CHEE MENG 5,000,000 0.415 
29. TAN HOOI EE 4,970,000 0.413 
30. CHONG KIT SING 4,850,000 0.403 
  347,216,596 28.822 
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Seventeenth Annual General Meeting of SMTRACK BERHAD 
will be conducted on fully virtual basis via an Online Meeting Platform at http://bit.ly/45SURQb on 
Wednesday, 27 December 2023 at 11.00 a.m. to transact the following business:- 
 
A G E N D A 
 
1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial period ended 30 June 2023 together 

with Reports of the Directors’ and the Auditors’ thereon. 
 

 Please refer to Note 8 
 
2. To approve the Directors’ fees and benefits of payable up to an amount of RM1,175,000.00 for 

the period from 28 December 2023 until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company to be 
held in 2024.             

                          
Ordinary Resolution 1     

 
3. To re-elect the following Directors who retire pursuant to Clause 97 of the Constitution of the 

Company:- 
 

(i) Dato’ Zaidi Bin Mat Isa @ Hashim  Ordinary Resolution 2  
  

(ii) Dato’ Sri Shaharuddin Bin Khalid Ordinary Resolution 3  
 

4.        To re-elect the following Directors who retire pursuant to Clause 104 of the Constitution of the 
Company:- 

 
(i) 
(ii) 
(iii) 

Mr. Cheah Ben Lee 
Mr. Chua Ser Terk 
Ms. Lam Hwan Chui  

Ordinary Resolution 4 
Ordinary Resolution 5 
Ordinary Resolution 6  

 
5.       To re-appoint Messrs. ChengCo PLT as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors 

to fix their remuneration.  
                                                                                                                            Ordinary Resolution 7 

 
6. AUTHORITY FOR DIRECTORS TO ISSUE AND ALLOT SHARES IN THE COMPANY 

PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 75 AND 76 OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2016  
 
 

“THAT subject always to the Companies Act, 2016 (“Act”), Company’s Constitution, Listing 
Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) and the approvals of the 
relevant authorities, the Directors be and are hereby authorised pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 
of the Companies Act, 2016, to issue and allot shares in the Company at any time and upon such 
terms and conditions and for such purposes as the Directors may in their absolute discretion, 
deem fit provided that the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this resolution 
does not exceed 10% of the total number of issued shares of the Company at the time of issue 
AND THAT the Directors be and are also empowered to obtain the approval for the listing of and 
quotation for the additional shares to be issued on Bursa Securities AND THAT such authority 
shall continue to be in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the 
Company. 
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AND FURTHER THAT pursuant to Section 85 of the Companies Act, 2016 read together with 
Clause 54 of the Company’s Constitution, approval be and is hereby given to waive the statutory 
pre-emptive rights of the shareholders of the Company and to offer new shares arising from the 
issuance and allotment of the new shares pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act 
2016 AND THAT the Board of Directors of the Company is exempted from the obligation to offer 
such new shares first to the existing shareholders of the Company.” 
   

Ordinary Resolution 8 
 

7.     To transact any other business that may be transacted at an annual general meeting of which due 
notice shall have been given in accordance with the Companies Act, 2016 and the Constitution of 
the Company.  

 
 
BY ORDER OF THE BOARD 
SMTACK BERHAD 
 
WONG YOUN KIM (MAICSA 7018778) 
(SSM Practising Certificate No.: 201908000410) 
Company Secretary 
 
Kuala Lumpur 
Date: 31 October 2023 
 
NOTES : 
 
REMOTE PARTICIPATION AND VOTING  
 
1. The Broadcast Venue of the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) is strictly for the purpose of 

complying with Section 327(2) of the Companies Act 2016 which requires the Chairman of the 
meeting to be physically present at the main venue in Malaysia. No 
shareholders/proxies/corporate representatives shall be physically present at the Broadcast 
Venue on the meeting day. Members are advised to refer to the Administrative Guide which is 
available on the Company’s corporate website at www.smtrackberhad.my, for the remote 
participation and voting at the AGM using the Virtual Meeting Facilities. 

 
INFORMATION FOR SHAREHOLDERS/PROXIES 
 
2. A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint up to 

two (2) proxies to attend and vote in his stead, and that a proxy may but need not be a Member. 
 

3. Where a member appoints more than one proxy to attend at the same meeting, the instrument of 
proxy must specifies the proportions of his shareholdings to be represented by each proxy. He 
must also specify which proxy is entitled to vote. 

 
4. Where a member of the Company is an authorised nominee as defined under the Securities 

Industry (Central Depositories) Act, 1991, it may appoint up to two (2) proxies in respect of each 
securities account (“Omnibus account”) it holds with ordinary shares of the Company standing to 
the credit of the said securities account. 

 

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
(Cont’d)
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5. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or of his 
attorney duly authorised in writing, or if the appointor is a corporation either under the common 
seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney so authorised. 

 
6. The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under 

which it is signed or a notarized certified copy of that power or authority, shall be deposited at the 
registered office of the Company at Level 5, Tower 8, Avenue 5, Horizon 2, Bangsar South City, 
59200 Kuala Lumpur not less than twenty-four (24) hours before the time appointed for holding 
the meeting and any adjournment thereof. 

 
7. In respect of deposited securities, only a member whose names appear on the Record of 

Depositors on 19 December 2023 shall be eligible to attend, speak and vote at the meeting or 
appoint proxy(ies) to attend and/vote on his behalf. 

 
8. Agenda 1 is to table the Audited Financial Statements pursuant to the provision of Section 

340(1)(a) of the Companies Act, 2016 and is meant for discussion only. It does not require a 
formal approval and/or adoption by the shareholders of the Company and hence, Agenda 1 is 
not put forward for voting. 

 
EXPLANATORY NOTES ON SPECIAL BUSINESS  
 
Ordinary Resolution 8 
 
- Resolution pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act, 2016 
 

The Proposed Ordinary Resolution 8, if passed, is to give the Directors of the Company flexibility 
to issue and allot shares up to an amount not exceeding ten per centum (10%) of the Company’s 
total number of issued share capital for the time being upon such terms and conditions and for such 
purposes and to such person or persons as Directors of the Company in their absolute discretion 
consider to be in the interest of the Company, without having to convene a separate general 
meeting so as to avoid incurring additional cost and time. The purpose of this general mandate is 
for possible fund-raising exercises including but not limited to further placement of shares for 
purposes of funding current and/or future investment projects, working capital and/or acquisitions. 
 
The general mandate sought for issue of shares is a renewal of the mandate that was approved by 
the shareholders at the last AGM held on 30 June 2022 which will lapse at the conclusion of this AGM. 
 
This authority shall continue in force until the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company or the 
expiration of the period within which the next AGM is required by law to be held or revoked/varied 
by resolution passed by the shareholders in general meeting whichever is the earlier.   
 
The approval of the issuance and allotment of the new shares under Sections 75 and 76 of the 
Companies Act 2016 shall have the effect of the shareholders having agreed to waive their statutory 
pre-emptive rights pursuant to Section 85 of the Companies Act, 2016 and Clause 54 of the 
Constitution of the Company, the shareholders of the Company hereby agree to waive and are 
deemed to have waived their statutory pre-emptive rights pursuant to Section 85 of the Companies 
Act, 2016 and Clause 54  of the Constitution of the Company pertaining to the issuance and 
allotment of new shares under Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act 2016, which will result in 
a dilution to their shareholding percentage in the Company. 
 
There were no shares issued from the previous mandate given to the Directors at the last AGM 
held on 30 June 2022. 

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
(Cont’d)
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PERSONAL DATA POLICY 
 
By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and 
vote at the AGM and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the 
collection, use and disclosure of the member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the 
purpose of the processing and administration by the Company (or its agents) of proxies and 
representatives appointed for the AGM (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and 
compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to the AGM (including any 
adjournment thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents) to comply with any applicable 
laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where 
the member discloses the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the 
Company (or its agents), the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or 
representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents) of the personal 
data of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member 
will indemnify the Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and 
damages as a result of the member’s breach of warranty. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
(Cont’d)
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1. The Seventeenth Annual General Meeting of the Company will be conducted on fully virtual basis 
via an Online Meeting Patform at http://bit.ly/45SURQb on Wednesday, 27 December 2023 at 
11.00 a.m.   

 
2. The Directors who are standing for re-election at the Seventeenth Annual General Meeting of the 

Company pursuant to Clause 97 of the Company’s Constitution are: -  
 

a) Dato’ Zaidi Bin Mat Isa @ Hashim  
b) Dato’ Sri Shaharuddin Bin Khalid 

 
  The details of the above Directors seeking re-election are set out in the Profile of Directors as 

disclosed on page 8 and page 10 of this Annual Report.  
 
3. The Directors who are standing for re-election at the Seventeenth Annual General Meeting of the 

Company pursuant to Clause 104 of the Company’s Constitution is: -  
 

a) Mr. Cheah Ben Lee 
b) Mr. Chua Ser Terk 
c) Ms. Lam Hwan Chui 

 
 The details of the above Directors seeking re-election are set out in the Profile of Directors as 

disclosed on page 13 to page 15 of this Annual Report.  
 
4. The details of attendance of the Directors of the Company at Board of Directors Meetings held 

during the financial period ended 30 June 2023 are disclosed in the Corporate Governance 
Overview Statement set out on page 27 of this Annual Report. 

 
 

STATEMENT ACCOMPANYING THE 
NOTICE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING



SMTRACK BERHAD 
Registration No.: 200401000918 (639421-X) 

(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 

PROXY FORM CDS Account No.  
 No. of shares held  

 
 
I/We, NRIC/Passport No.  

(FULL NAME IN BLOCK LETTERS)   
of  

(FULL ADDRESS)  
Telephone number  Email address being a Member

 
Members of SMTRACK BERHAD hereby appoint  

  (FULL NAME IN BLOCK LETTERS) 
NRIC/Passport No.   of  

 (FULL ADDRESS) 
Telephone number  Email address  or failing whom, 

 
  NRIC/Passport No.  

(FULL NAME IN BLOCK LETTERS) 
of  

(FULL ADDRESS) 
 

Telephone number  Email address  
or failing whom, the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxy/proxies to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the SEVENTEENTH 
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING of the Company (“the Meeting”) will be conducted on fully virtual basis via an Online Meeting Platform 
at http://bit.ly/45SURQb on Wednesday, 27 December 2023 at 11.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof. 
 
My/our proxy is to vote as indicated below: 

 Resolution For Against 

Ordinary Resolution 1 To approve the Directors’ fees and benefits of payable up to an amount of 
RM1,175,000.00 for the period from 28 December 2023 until the next Annual 
General Meeting of the Company to be held in 2024.   
 

  

Ordinary Resolution 2 Re-election of Dato’ Zaidi Bin Mat Isa @ Hashim as Director. 
 

  

Ordinary Resolution 3 Re-election of Dato’ Sri Shaharuddin Bin Khalid as Director. 
 

  

Ordinary Resolution 4 Re-election of Mr. Cheah Ben Lee as Director. 
 

  

Ordinary Resolution 5 Re-election of Mr. Chua Ser Terk as Director. 
 

  

Ordinary Resolution 6 Re-election of Ms. Lam Hwan Chui as Director. 
 

  

Ordinary Resolution 7 Re-appointment of Messrs. ChengCo PLT as the Company’s Auditors and to 
authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration. 
 

  

Ordinary Resolution 8 Authority for Directors to allot and issue shares under Sections 75 and 76 of 
the Companies Act, 2016. 
 

  

 
Please indicate with an "X" in the spaces provided, how you wish your votes to be cast. If you do not do so, the proxy will vote or 
abstain from voting at his discretion. 

  For appointment of two proxies, percentage of 
shareholdings to be represented by the proxies: 

    Percentage 
Signature/Common Seal 
 
 

 Proxy 1 
Proxy 2 

 % 
% 

Date:   Total  100% 
      

NOTES : 
1. The Broadcast Venue of the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) is strictly for the purpose of complying with Section 327(2) of the Companies Act 

2016 which requires the Chairman of the meeting to be physically present at the main venue in Malaysia. No shareholders/proxies/corporate 
representatives shall be physically present at the Broadcast Venue on the meeting day. Members are advised to refer to the Administrative Guide 
which is available on the Company’s corporate website at www.smtrackberhad.my, for the remote participation and voting at the AGM using the 
Virtual Meeting Facilities. 

2. A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint up to two (2) proxies to attend and vote in his stead, and 
that a proxy may but need not be a Member. 

3. Where a member appoints more than one proxy to attend at the same meeting, the instrument of proxy must specifies the proportions of his 
shareholdings to be represented by each proxy. He must also specify which proxy is entitled to vote. 

4. Where a member of the Company is an authorised nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act, 1991, it may appoint 
up to two (2) proxies in respect of each securities account (“omnibus account”) it holds with ordinary shares of the Company standing to the credit 
of the said securities account. 

5. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing, or if the appointor 
is a corporation either under the common seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney so authorised. 

6. The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed or a notarized certified copy of that 
power or authority, shall be deposited at the registered office of the Company at Level 5, Tower 8, Avenue 5, Horizon 2, Bangsar South City, 59200 
Kuala Lumpur not less than twenty-four (24) hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting and any adjournment thereof. 

7. In respect of deposited securities, only a member whose names appear on the Record of Depositors on 19 December 2023 shall be eligible to 
attend, speak and vote at the meeting or appoint proxy(ies) to attend and/vote on his behalf.  
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The Company Secretary 
SMTRACK BERHAD  

Registration No. 200401000918 (639421-X) 
LEVEL 5, TOWER 8, AVENUE 5, HORIZON 2 

BANGSAR SOUTH CITY 
59200 KUALA LUMPUR 
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